
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Finance and Audit 
Committee

Members of the Finance and Audit Committee of Gravesham Borough Council are summoned 
to attend a meeting to be held at the Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend, Kent on Tuesday, 
13 March 2018 at 7.30 pm when the business specified in the following agenda is proposed to be 
transacted.

S Kilkie
Assistant Director (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies for absence 

2. Minutes (Pages 5 - 12)

3. Declarations of Interest 

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or any items in Part B in public. 

5. Review of Accounting Policies 2017-18 (Pages 13 - 32)

To seek endorsement of the Accounting Policies to be used in 
formulating the Financial Statements for the authority for the financial 
year 2017/18.

To advise Members on the earlier closedown requirements that will be 
effective from the 2017/18 financial year (i.e. for the accounts prepared 
for the year ended 31 March 2018). 

6. Review of the Statement of Accounts Glossary of Terms (Pages 33 - 42)

Public Document Pack



To provide an update on the review of the Glossary of Terms and which 
currently forms part of the Council’s Financial Statement. 

7. Audit & Counter Fraud Charter (Pages 43 - 52)

To present for approval the Audit & Counter Fraud Charter. 

8. Audit & Counter Fraud 2018-19 Work Plan (Pages 53 - 66)

To present for approval the Audit & Counter Fraud 2018/19 Plan for 
Gravesham. 

9. 2016/17 External Audit Grant Certification Letter (Pages 67 - 72)

To provide Members with a summary of the external audit findings and 
issues arising from Grant Claim certification work completed by Grant 
Thornton relating to 2016/17.

 

10.Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

11.Exclusion of the public 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act. 

Part B

Items likely to be considered in private

Members

Cllr Karen Hurdle (Chair)
Cllr Robin Theobald (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Lesley Boycott
John Burden
Colin Caller
Leslie Hills
William Lambert
Peter Rayner
Lenny Rolles

Substitutes: To be notified





This page is intentionally left blank



1

Finance & Audit Committee 

Monday, 19 February 2018                                 7:30pm 

Present:

Cllr Karen Hurdle (Chair) 
Cllr Robin Theobald (Vice-Chair)        

Cllrs: Lesley Boycott 
John Burden
Rob Halpin 
Leslie Hills 
William Lambert 
Peter Rayner 
Lenny Rolles 

Stuart Bobby 
Sarah Parfitt 

Director (Corporate Services) 
Assistant Director (Corporate Services)

James Larkin Head of Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Services 
Andrew Barnett Principal Accountant (General Fund)
Alexandra Jarvis 
Gareth Davies 

Principal Accountant (Housing & Exchequer)
Head of Client Relationship Management, Hermes Investment 
Management 

Darren Wells   External Auditor, Grant Thornton  
Ben Clarke Committee & Scrutiny Assistant (Minutes) 

35. Apologies for absence 

An apology of absence was received from Cllr Colin Caller. Cllr Rob Halpin substituted. 

36. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting on the Wednesday, 15 November 2017 were signed by the 
Chair. 

37. Declarations of Interest 

Cllr John Burden declared two interests with regard to the item Budget Monitoring Report 
2017/18 – Quarter Three: 

 He is the Director, Chair and a trustee of the Age UK Northwest Kent  
 He is also a director and trustee of the Gr@nd 

Please note: Cllr Derek Shelbrooke was also in attendance. 

Page 5 Agenda Item 2



Finance and Audit Committee 19.02.2018

2

38. Presentation from Property Fund Managers 

Members of the Committee were provided with a presentation that detailed an overview of 
the Property Fund market and gave them the opportunity to ask questions of one of the 
Council’s Fund Managers, Hermes. (A presentation booklet was handed out to each 
Committee Member). 

The Chair thanked Gareth Davies for his informative presentation. 

39. Budget Monitoring Report 2017/18 - Quarter Three 

Members were provided with information on actual performance against the approved 
Revenue and Capital budgets for 2017/18, including known variances agreed or identified 
through budgetary control activity. Members were also updated on other key areas of 
financial performance that may impact on the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy, 
Medium Term Financial Plan, HRA Business Plan or Financial Statements.

The Principal Accountant (General Fund) and the Principal Accountant (Housing & 
Exchequer) elaborated further on their respective fields outlined in the executive summary 
on page 12 of the report. Key points from the report were outlined to Members as follows: 

General Fund 

 At the end of Quarter Three there is projected underspend for the year of £630,850. 
Main movements affecting the forecast position against the original budget for the 
year include impacts accruing against staffing budgets and implementation of 
‘Bridging the Gap’ activity 

 The level of Working Balances at year end are projected to be £6.99m, constituted 
the minimum working balances of £1.25m, the General Fund reserve of £2m and 
usable Working Balances of £3.74m 

 The budget for 2017/18 incorporated a vacancy allowance of £350,000, and the 
current year-end projection is an underspend of £760,000 against staffing budgets, 
therefore giving rise to the net favourable variance of £410,000 

 As part of ‘Bridging the Gap’ activity identified within MTFS a number of shared 
service options are being explored. The establishment of a shared service with 
Medway Council for legal services from April 2017 has produced a positive effect to 
the Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) of £104k in 2017/18

 There is an additional projected rental income for 2017/18 of £58K compared to the 
original budget following refinement of budgetary arrangements

 There is a £44K favourable variance for the CCTV Partnership achieved by reducing 
staffing costs and funding previously set aside on an annual basis to support the 
installation of new CCTV cameras/equipment 

 £70K adverse variance for the Borough Market 
 The Garden Waste Collection Service has a projected surplus income of £50K due to 

continued growth of the garden waste subscription service
 Government Grant Funding –the projections for Section 31 grants received to 

compensate the Council for various business rate reliefs granted (within the 
Government Grant Funding) and business rates income have been updated, giving a 
net benefit to the MTFP of £155K 

 The forecast usable Working Balances as at 31 December 2017 is £3,740,410 

Page 6



Finance and Audit Committee 19.02.2018

3

 The forecast balance of General Fund Earmarked Reserves as at 31 March 2018 is 
£7,273,000 

 For the General Fund Capital Programme the 2017/18 working budget is 
£12,635,850, the vast majority of which relates to the Property Acquisition 
Programme (£10 million). The recent acquisition of the retail building in Sittingbourne 
high street was completed in January and will bring in an annual rental income 
stream of £85K

 Section 4.4 shows the level of Capital Resources available to fund General Fund 
Capital projects 

Housing Revenue Account 

 At the end of Quarter Three, income and expenditure for the year remains balanced, 
albeit there is a movement in the projected transfer to reserves due to adjustment in 
the funding for the New Build/Acquisition programme. Main movements affecting the 
forecast position against the original budget for the year include savings against 
staffing budgets, increases in rental income, the impact of the disposal of the PV 
Panel stock and savings generated from ongoing activity to improve the efficiency 
and effectiveness of the repairs and maintenance service to tenants 

 The level of Working Balances at year end are projected to be £3.0m, at the 
minimum level of Working Balances for the HRA. Movements in the year are 
projected to result in a net increase in the General HRA Reserves of £2.1m, with the 
level of reserves being £4.6m at start of year and projected to be £6.7m at year end. 
As with the GF, the significant risk to the HRA’s financial position continues to be the 
lack of clarity regarding funding, in particular changes to funding for supported 
housing 

 The Housing Capital Programme for the year is budgeted at £14.7m, with spend to 
the end of Quarter Two of £9.5m 

 The Housing Strategy Development Manager is working hard to ensure that all the 
Councils right to buy receipts are correctly used and so far twenty four properties 
have been purchased with an additional number of offers being accepted 

 With regard to the Disabled Facilities Grant the combined total expenditure and 
committed funds to date is £713,046 and with the anticipated progress on the 
outstanding cases, the remaining budget of £418,454 is expected to be fully 
expended/committed by the end of 2017/18 

Following Members questions and comments, the finance officers advised that: 

 There is £153K forecasted expenditure of the Leisure Centre Reserve; the purpose 
of this will be checked and brought back to the Committee. In relation to the reserve 
itself, it was established to secure ongoing delivery of the leisure services in 
Gravesham 

 The reserve was also originally set up to accumulate the payments of the 
management contributions that would be paid by GCLL to the Council over a period 
of ten years ending in 2020; it was aimed to make a reserve of £2 million however as 
a part of an agreement the Council was forced to make the payments for utilities 
which is why the reserve is much lower 

 As Members will be aware, agreement was given to extend the Leisure Centre 
Management Contract by an additional five years taking them through to 2025; the 
centres do need major investment to update and refurbish them. The Director 

Page 7



Finance and Audit Committee 19.02.2018

4

(Communities) is arranging trips to other leisure centres to understand how they 
reenergised their centres as well as reviewing their financial models 

 The error on page 32, under Southfield Shaw Capital Works will be rectified and the 
committee informed of the correct figure

 A sheltered housing review was required and carried out by GBC due to the 
reduction in funding from KCC, one of the outcomes from that was to remove 
wardens from being residential and have them as ‘floating support’. By changing this, 
the Council has removed the additional cost of meeting their rent 

 Referencing the disabled facilities grant on page 35, Members were advised that 
additional assurances would be sought from the Assistant Director (Housing) that all 
of the 88 live cases would be completed or they would have funds committed to them 
by the end of the financial year 

 With regard to the £410k favourable variance for staff vacancies, GBC budgets for a 
full staffing establishment and has a vacancy allowance of £350K. The favourable 
variance against staffing budgets has accrued this year due to natural turnover, 
difficulty in finding staff for professional positions such as planners and accountants 
and the implementation of Service Review Options.  These will not be known when 
setting the budget, resulting in an in-year variance. 

 The saving delivered by the shared CCTV service with Medway is due to the sharing 
of a desk and resultantly fewer staff being needed, with it understood that one officer 
was made redundant. GBC were unaware initially that Medway had privatised that 
service although that had no correlation with the one officer being made redundant 

 With regards to the decision to stop the Revs & Bens shared service with TMBC, the 
two officers that left the service after the announcement were met with to discuss 
their reasons for leaving.  Members can be assured that they left for entirely 
unrelated reasons to the shared service 

 The Queens Statue is being funded solely by external investors but as it is owned by 
GBC it is classed as an asset and therefore is reflected in the Capital Programme 

 The funds put in an earmarked reserve for the Lower Thames Crossing (LTC) were 
agreed at a meeting of Full Council last year and will remain in the reserve until 
expended or a decision is taken to release the funds back to working balances. 

 The donations towards the statue could not be disclosed at the meeting and officers 
would need to check the terms of the donation before disclosing information on the 
donors. 

Cllr Halpin wanted it noted that the signage for the new cemetery in Chalk/Higham was very 
poor and had had numerous complaints of it from his residents. Cllr Hills replied to this that 
he too had received many complaints from his constituents but that it was down to KCC 
Highways to erect more signage. 

The Chair thanked the officers for an informative update. 

40. Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2018-19 

Members considered the Treasury Management Strategy 2018/19, the Annual Investment 
Strategy and the Minimum Revenue Provision Policy.

The Principal Accountant highlighted the following key points from the report: 

Page 8



Finance and Audit Committee 19.02.2018

5

 Section 6 – The table at 6.4 details the Capital Prudential Indicators up until 2021.In 
2017/18 the net financing need for the year is £5 million reflecting the spend on 
commercial property acquisition from the council’s own resources

 Section 8 – The forecast of the level of gross debt as at 31 March 2018 is just over 
£98 million which gradually reduces over the next three years as debt is repaid to a 
level of just over £90 million in 2020/21 

 For the same period, the actual debt is less than the Capital Finance Requirement 
which means we have an under borrowed position.  You will see that the under 
borrowing position is increasing, this reflects the internal borrowing that we have 
undertaken for the Commercial Property Acquisition within the capital  

 At 18.3, the report was prepared prior to the Bank of England’s most recent guidance 
on interest rates.  As a result Link have also revised their interest rate forecast to the 
following: 

- 2018/19 0.80%
- 2019/20 1.25%
- 2020/21 1.50%
- 2021/22 1.65%
- Rates remain the same for years 2022/23 onwards.

 Last year, Link Asset Services took over Capita who previously advised GBC on 
treasury management 

 As with the 2017/18 Treasury Management Strategy we have included two cash flow 
graphs for Member information which can be found at appendix 7 and 8 of the 
document.

Resolved that Members recommend to Full Council that: 

1) The Treasury Management Strategy for 2018/19 be agreed

2) The Authority’s Prudential & Treasury Indicators be determined as set out in the 
report

3) Delegated authority be given to the Director of Corporate Services, in consultation 
with the Chair of the Finance and Audit Committee, to amend the prudential and 
treasury indicators as necessary as a result of the budget approved by Full Council 
on 27th February 2018

4) The Annual Investment Strategy (AIS) for 2018/19 be agreed

5) The application of the Asset Life (Equal Instalments Methodology) for Minimum
Revenue Provision (MRP) calculation on all new capital expenditure be approved for 
2018/19 and beyond in accordance with the Authority’s Capital Programme

41. Corporate Risk Register 2018-19 

Members of the Finance and Audit Committee were informed of the outcomes from 
Gravesham Borough Council's annual risk identification and analysis exercise and were 
presented with a draft copy of the Corporate Risk Register for 2018-2019. The report 
confirmed that there were no material changes required to the Corporate Risk Management 
Strategy. 

Page 9



Finance and Audit Committee 19.02.2018

6

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) advised that following assessment of the 
potential strategic risks identified, those assessed as being above the council’s risk tolerance 
threshold and therefore proposed for inclusion in the 2018-19 Corporate Risk Register were 
identified as being: 

 Risk 1: Ongoing financial viability of the Council 

 Risk 2: Changes in national priorities and legislative change  

 Risk 3: Organisational capacity/resilience
  
 Risk 4: Business Rates Retention Scheme 

 Risk 5: Implementation of the Homelessness Reduction Act 

 Risk 6: Universal Credit

 Risk 7: General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR)

Resolved that Members were in agreement with the inclusion of the above seven risks for 
the Corporate Risk Register 2018-2019. 

42. Audit & Counter Fraud Update - Q3 2017-18 

Members were provided with an update on the work, outputs and performance of the Audit &
Counter Fraud Team for the period 1 October 2017 to 31 December 2017. 

The Head of Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service stated that:

 The report is the final update for 2017-18 ahead of the annual report in June; six 
audits were finalised during the period of the report with the details showcased in the 
table at section 4 of the report 

 With regard some of the key targets shown in the table on page 174, as of the 
morning of 19 February 2018, the proportion of agreed plan delivered is at 54% with 
proportion of agreed plan underway at 34%. Proportion of productive time spent on 
assurance & consultancy work is 67% and proportion of productive time spent on 
counter fraud work is 33%. 

 There are no additional fraud savings to add at this time but the team are working 
with the Housing Dept. in relation to the potential recovery of 2-3 properties. 

 The contract for the temp that was employed in the shared service ended in February 
and the staff member who had been off returned to work. The temp was very 
productive and helped to fill the gap.

Section 6 outlines a formal recommendation to remove one review from the plan and defer a 
second to 2018-19: 

 Waste & recycling project Post Implementation Review – This review has already 
been undertaken by the Corporate Change Manager and conducted independently of 
the service, meaning that there is no longer a need for the Audit & Counter Fraud 
Team to undertake the review

Page 10



Finance and Audit Committee 19.02.2018

7

 Repairs & Maintenance Supplies Management – The project to make changes to the 
system and process is behind schedule, therefore the consultancy planned for Q1 
and the review planned for Q4 have not been required. The project will be moving 
forward in late March and it is therefore proposed to defer these items to 2018-19 

Resolved that Members: 

1) Noted the outputs and performance of the Audit & Counter Fraud Plan for 
Gravesham for the period 1 October 2017 to 31 December 2017 as detailed at 
Appendix two.

2) Approved the amendments to the 2017-18 work plan as detailed in section 6 of the 
report at Appendix two.

43. Audit & Counter Fraud Strategy Review 

The Head of Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service gave an update on progress against the 
Audit & Counter Fraud Strategy 2016-2020 made by the team during 2017-18 to date.

A review of the strategy and of action carried out to date against the three objectives listed in 
pages 183/4 of the report has been carried out. The Strategy is considered to remain 
appropriate with good progress made as shown by the positive trends in the team’s 
performance reported through the Finance & Audit Committee; there are no changes 
proposed to the objectives. 

Resolved that Members noted the progress made by the Audit & Counter Fraud Team 
towards delivering its strategic objectives during the 2017-18 year to date. 

44. Audit & Counter Fraud Quality Assurance & Improvement Programme 
Review 

The Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service Quality Assurance & Improvement Programme 
2018-19 was presented to Members for approval. 

The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (Standards) require that the chief audit executive 
must develop and maintain a quality assurance and improvement programme that covers all 
aspects of the internal audit activity. 

On 14 March 2017, the Finance & Audit Committee approved the Quality Assurance & 
Improvement Programme (QAIP) prepared to meet this requirement. The main change is the 
layout of the table containing the performance measures.  It is still based on a balanced 
scorecard approach, however the performance indicators are now grouped under to reflect 
those that relate to the service as a whole and those that relate to the individual authorities. 

The Standards require an external assessment to be carried out at least once every five 
years by a qualified assessor or assessment team from outside the organisation. Gateway 
Assure visited both GBC and Medway in January for site visits as part of their assessment, 
which is now complete in compliance with the deadline set for 31 March 2018. A draft report 
will be received in the coming weeks with the findings presented at the next Finance & Audit 
Committee. 

Page 11



Finance and Audit Committee 19.02.2018

8

Resolved that Members approved the revised Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service 
Quality Assurance & Improvement Programme 2018-19. 

45. Audit Plan 2017-18 

Members were informed of the planned work of the external auditor in conducting their audit 
of the council’s Statement of Accounts 2017-18.

The External Auditor, Grant Thornton advised that the report is in a slightly different format 
than previously but Members will be familiar with the content; on page 211 it snapshots the 
key elements of the work plan and it confirms the outcome of the risk assessment for value 
of money, the conclusion being that no VFM significant risks have been identified. The final 
paragraph of the report explains the independence of the external auditors and their ability to 
express an objective opinion on the financial statements. 

Following a question regarding the risks contained within the Audit Plan and Medway 
privatising their shared service without GBC knowing, the External Auditor responded that 
there should be transparent communication between the two authorities and it was unusual, 
but this was not classified as a significant risk for the type of audit that is carried out.

Resolved that Members noted the audit plan for 2017-18. 

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 9:11pm. 

Page 12



Classification:  
Part 1 – Public                                
  
Key Decision:
No

 

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Finance & Audit Committee

Date: 13 March 2018

Reporting officer: Sarah Parfitt – Assistant Director (Corporate Services)

Subject: Accounting Policies 2017-18 and earlier closedown 
requirements

Purpose and summary of report: 

To seek endorsement of the Accounting Policies to be used in formulating the Financial 
Statements for the authority for the financial year 2017-18.
To advise Members on the earlier closedown requirements that will be effective from the 
2017-18 financial year (i.e. for the accounts prepared for the year ended 31 March 2018).

Recommendations:

1. Members are asked to endorse the use of the Accounting Policies as outlined at Appendix 
Two to this report, subject to further comments from the Council’s external auditor.

1. BACKGROUND

1.1 The Accounts & Audit (England) Regulations 2015 requires local authorities to 
prepare their annual financial statement of accounts in accordance with ‘proper 
accounting practice’.  For local authorities, proper accounting practice is defined 
as that contained within the CIPFA Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting in the United Kingdom (The Code).  

1.2 Accounting policies are the principles, bases, conventions, rules and practices 
applied by an authority that specify how the effects of transactions and other 
events are to be reflected in its financial statements.  This may be through 
recognising, selecting measurement bases for, and presenting assets, liabilities, 
gains, losses and changes in reserves. Except where explicitly specified in The 
Code, or due to specific legislative requirements, it is for an authority to select the 
accounting policies that are most appropriate to its particular circumstances.

Page 13 Agenda Item 5



2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES FOR 2017-18

2.1 The Code for 2017-18 has been published and a review of the Council’s 
accounting policies has been conducted to ensure that these are in line with the 
requirements of The Code.  Feedback received from the Council’s external 
auditors during the audit of the statement of accounts for 2016-17 has also been 
taken into account in presenting the proposed accounting policies to be used to 
produce the financial statements for 2017-18, as included at Appendix Two to this 
report.  

2.2 There are no major changes to The Code that have been identified and will 
influence the council’s accounting policies for 2017-18.  The accounting policies 
will therefore broadly remain in line with those used to prepare the 2016-17 
statement of accounts.  For assistance, the updates made to the accounting 
policies are summarised below:

 Cash and Cash Equivalents (Accounting Policy 1.5) – this policy has 
been updated to provide greater clarity on how the policy is practically 
applied.

 Intangible Assets (Accounting Policy 1.8) – following feedback from the 
external auditors as part of last years’ audit, this policy has been reviewed 
and shortened in the spirit of decluttering the accounts.

 Cost of Management and Support Services (Accounting Policy 1.18) 
– this policy has been updated to provide greater clarity on how the policy 
is practically applied.

2.3 In line with the Finance & Audit Committee’s responsibility to receive the annual 
financial statements, and as per the practice adopted in previous years, the 
committee are requested to endorse the use of the accounting policies set out at 
Appendix Two in preparing the financial statements for 2017-18. 

2.4 Members should note that the accounting policies have been shared with the 
external auditors and may therefore be subject to any comments / feedback from 
the Council’s external auditors. Any material changes to the accounting policies 
subsequently found to be necessary will be accompanied by an explanation of the 
impact of the change in policy within the financial statements.   

3. REQUIREMENT FOR EARLIER CLOSING OF 2017-18 ACCOUNTS

3.1 Traditionally, local government bodies in England have been required to have 
their draft annual statement of accounts produced by 30th June and audited, 
approved and published by 30th September following the end of the financial year.  
Effective from the 2017-18 financial year, the Accounts and Audit (England) 
Regulations 2015 specify the requirement to accelerate this process so that the 
draft annual statement of accounts are produced by 31st May and audited, 
approved and published by 31st July following the end of the financial year. 

3.2 The revised timetable will present challenges to both the Council and External 
Auditors; the Council will have one month less in which to close the financial year 
and produce the annual statement of accounts, and External Auditors will be 
required to complete local government audits and issue opinions two months 
earlier than the current requirements.

Page 14



3.3 In preparation for this, the council did bring forward the timetable for the 
production of the draft statement of accounts for 2016-17 with a draft statement of 
accounts prepared by 19 May 2017, allowing time for quality assurance processes 
to take place between this point and 31 May 2017.

3.4 One potential consequence of faster closedown and the increased use of 
estimates is an increase in the number of non-trivial errors reported by the 
external auditors in their Audit Findings Reports. These are errors that are not 
material and therefore do not significantly affect the financial position of the 
Council.  They do not affect the audit opinion.  The 2017-18 Audit Plan presented 
to the Finance & Audit Committee on 19 February set the triviality threshold of the 
Council for 2017-18 at £85k.

3.5 In previous years the Finance & Audit Committee would have received the draft 
statement of accounts at the July meeting, prior to audit, with this supported by 
separate training on the statement delivered by officers of the Finance Team.  The 
final, audited statement would then be presented to the committee at the 
September meeting, alongside the auditor’s report.

3.6 The tighter deadline will result in the committee receiving the final, audited 
statement at the July meeting, alongside the auditor’s report.  Officers will be in 
attendance at the meeting to provide support to Members in interpreting the 
Statements as needed.

4. BACKGROUND PAPERS

4.1 The CIPFA Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 
‘Guidance Notes for Practitioners’ is held by Financial Services.

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be 
directed to Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary 
arrangements.

Page 15



IMPLICATIONS                                                                                                 APPENDIX 1 

Legal If the accounting policies were not in accordance with statutory guidance and 
The Code, the accounts for the financial year could receive a qualified opinion 
from Grant Thornton, the Council’s external auditors.

Finance and 
Value for 
Money 

The potential costs of not updating the accounting policies could include 
additional audit fees should further testing or extra audit time be required. 

Risk 
Assessment

It is considered that the policies presented to the Finance & Audit Committee 
within this report are properly in line with the statutory guidance.  In conducting 
the review of the accounting policies, Officers have attended a combined 
CIPFA/Ernst & Young event and a separate Grant Thornton event on applying 
The Code to the preparation of the 2017-18 accounts.

Screening for Equality Impacts

Question

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups 
in the community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No

Equality 
Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as 
noted in the table above

Corporate 
Plan

Corporate Objective 4: A sound and self-sufficient council.

Crime and 
Disorder

N/A

Digital and 
website 
implications

The draft and final versions of the statement of accounts will be published on 
the council website.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable 
adults

N/A

Page 16



ACCOUNTING POLICIES

STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1.1. General
Local Authorities are required to prepare their annual financial statements by the 
Accounts & Audit (England) Regulations 2015.  The regulations require these 
statements to be prepared in accordance with ‘proper accounting practice’.
Each year CIPFA produces a “Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the 
United Kingdom” (The Code).  The Code has been defined as proper accounting 
practice for the purpose of preparing the annual financial statements of the council 
and is based on approved accounting standards, comprising International Accounting 
Standards (IAS), International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) approved by 
the International Accounting Standards Board, International Public Sector Accounting 
Standards (IPSAS) and the Urgent Issues Task Force’s (UITF) Abstracts.
The following Accounting Policies set out the general principles used by Gravesham 
Borough Council to prepare its annual financial statements. 

1.2. Accounting Concepts & Qualitative Characteristics
In general, the accounts are prepared on the basis of historical cost modified by the 
revaluation of land, buildings, vehicles and plant, subject to and in accordance with 
the fundamental accounting concepts set out below:
Relevance
In accordance with IAS 8 - Accounting Polices, Changes in Accounting Estimates 
and Errors, the accounts are prepared to provide readers with information about the 
Council’s financial performance and position that is useful for assessing the 
stewardship of public funds.
Reliability
The accounts are prepared on the basis that the financial information contained 
within them is reliable, i.e. they are free from material error, deliberate or systematic 
bias, complete within the bounds of materiality and represent faithfully what they 
intend to represent. Where there is uncertainty in measuring or recognising the 
existence of assets, liabilities, income and expenditure then caution or prudence has 
been used as a basis to inform the selection and application of accounting policies 
and estimation techniques.
Comparability
The accounts are prepared to enable comparison between financial periods. To aid 
comparability, the Council applies its accounting policies consistently both during the 
year and between years.
Understandability
Every effort is made to make the accounts as easy to understand as possible. 
Nevertheless, there is an assumption that the reader has a reasonable knowledge of 
accounting and local government. Where the use of technical terms is unavoidable, 
explanations are provided in the Glossary of Terms.
Materiality
Certain information may be excluded from the accounts on the basis that the 
amounts involved are not material either to the fair presentation of the financial 
position and transactions of the Council or to the understanding of the accounts. 

Page 17



ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Accruals
With the exception of the Cash Flow Statement, the accounts are prepared on an 
accruals basis. The accruals basis of accounting requires the non-cash effect of 
transactions to be reflected in the accounts for the year in which those effects are 
experienced and not in the year in which the cash is actually received or paid.  Bills 
for Council Tax and Non-Domestic Rates are recorded as issued at 31 March and no 
attempt is made to accrue for bills due but not processed at the year-end. The 
Council has set a de-minimis level of £750 for final accounts accrual adjustments.
Going Concern
The accounts are prepared on the assumption that the Council will continue to 
operate for the foreseeable future.
Primacy of Legislative Requirements
Where a particular accounting treatment is prescribed by legislation, then that 
treatment prevails even if it conflicts with one or other of the accounting concepts 
outlined above. In the unlikely event of this arising, a note to that effect is included in 
the accounts.

1.3. Revenue Recognition
Activity is accounted for in the year that it takes place, not necessarily when cash 
payments are made or received. In particular:

 Revenue from the provision of services is recognised when the Authority can 
measure reliably the percentage of completion of the transaction and it is 
probable that economic benefits or service potential associated with the 
transaction will flow to the Authority.

 Revenue from Council Tax and Non-Domestic Rates is measured at the full 
amount receivable, as they are non-contractual, non-exchange transactions.  
Revenue from non-exchange transactions is recognised when it is probable that 
the economic benefits or service potential associated with the transaction will flow 
to the Council and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably.

 Supplies are recorded as expenditure when they are consumed – where there is 
a gap between the date supplies are received and their consumption; they are 
carried as inventories on the Balance Sheet.

 Interest receivable on investments and payable on borrowings is accounted for 
respectively as income and expenditure on the basis of the effective interest rate 
for the relevant financial instrument rather than the cash flows fixed or 
determined by the contract.

1.4. Estimation Techniques
Estimation techniques are the methods adopted by the Council to arrive at estimated 
monetary amounts, corresponding to the measurement bases selected for assets, 
liabilities, gains, losses and changes in reserves. Details of where these have been 
used are contained in the relevant Note to the Accounts. Where a change in an 
estimation technique is material, an explanation is also provided of the change and 
its effect on the results for the current period.

Page 18



ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1.5. Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and Cash Equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash, and which are subject to an insignificant risk 
of changes in value.  Available for sale assets are shown in the Balance Sheet at fair 
value, and all other investments are shown at their nominal value. Internally managed 
short-term highly liquid investments of three months or less from the date of 
acquisition are recognised as cash equivalents.

1.6. Assets Held for Sale (Current Assets)
These are assets that have been declared surplus to the Council’s operational 
requirements, are being actively marketed, and have an estimated sale date within 
twelve months of the Balance Sheet date. They are reported on the Balance Sheet 
date at the lower of the carrying amount or the fair value of the asset less the costs to 
sell the asset. Assets available for sale are not subject to depreciation.

1.7. Property, Plant and Equipment

- Recognition
All expenditure on the acquisition, creation or enhancement of Property, Plant and 
Equipment is capitalised on an accruals basis. Expenditure on the acquisition of an 
asset, or expenditure which adds to, and not merely maintains, the value of an 
existing asset, should be capitalised, provided that it yields benefits to the authority 
and the services it provides for a period of more than one year.
In defining capital expenditure, the Council operates a de minimis level of £12,000 for 
non-current assets. Any expenditure below this level is charged to revenue in the 
year of acquisition.
- Measurement
Initially the assets are measured at cost, comprising the purchase price plus any 
costs associated with bringing the asset into use.  The measurement of an asset 
acquired other than through purchase is deemed to be its fair value. 
In accordance with The Code, Property Plant and Equipment is further classified as:

 Council Dwellings
 Other Land and Buildings *
 Infrastructure assets
 Vehicles, Plant and Equipment
 Community Assets
 Assets under Construction

Each of these asset classifications are valued on the base recommended by CIPFA 
and in accordance with the Statements of Asset Valuation Principles and Guidance 
Notes issued by The Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS), as follows:

 Infrastructure, Community Assets & Assets Under Construction – Depreciated 
Historical Cost 

 Dwellings – current value, determined using the basis of Existing Use Value 
for Social Housing

 Surplus Assets – fair value, estimated at highest and best use

Page 19



ACCOUNTING POLICIES

 All other assets – current value, determined as the amount that would be paid 
for the asset in its existing use

Where there is no market-based evidence of current value because of the specialist 
nature of an asset, Depreciated Replacement Cost is used as an estimate of current 
value. Where non-property assets (such as Vehicles, Plant and Equipment) have 
short useful lives or low values (or both), Depreciated Historical Cost basis is used as 
a proxy for current value.

*These asset categories are revalued on a five-year rolling cycle. The programme of revaluations is 
continuing on this cyclical basis although values of those assets falling between scheduled valuation 
dates are reviewed annually to ensure that any material changes to asset valuations is adjusted in the 
interim period, as they occur.

 - Depreciation
Depreciation is provided for on those Property, Plant and Equipment assets with a 
finite useful life (which can be determined at the time of acquisition or revaluation) 
according to the following policy:

 newly acquired assets are not depreciated in the year of acquisition where 
this does not have a material effect upon the accounts.

 depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method.

 full depreciation is calculated in the year of disposal  
The standard useful lives for each category of asset are up to the following number of 
years:

Asset Depreciation Methodology

Operational Land Depreciation is not normally provided for freehold 
Land. 50 years (usually relating to car parks)

Operational Buildings Usually 50 years, although this can vary according to 
the individual asset

Non-Operational 
Buildings

60 years depending on the individual asset

Council Dwellings Suitable components are identified and valued at 
Beacon level, together with an estimate of each 
component’s useful life which together form the basis 
of the annual depreciation calculation.

Infrastructure 40 Years

Vehicles, Plant & 
Equipment

Vehicles & Plant - 10 Years depending on the type of 
asset
IT Equipment - 7 years depending on the nature of 
the asset
Non-IT Equipment - 20 years depending on the 
nature of the asset

Provision for depreciation is made by allocating the cost (or revalued amount) less 
estimated residual value of the assets as closely as possible to the periods expected 
to benefit from their use.

Page 20



ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Depreciation is not normally provided for on freehold land and certain Community 
Assets (whether operational or non-operational) on the basis that such assets do not 
have a determinable useful life. Depreciation is also not provided for on assets which 
are not yet available for use (i.e. Assets Under Construction).
- Valuation
The freehold properties which comprise part of the Council’s property portfolio have 
been valued at the direct request of the Council's Assistant Director (Corporate 
Services) in accordance with CIPFA's accounting arrangements. Valuations are 
undertaken by suitably qualified internal staff, or external firms as practicable in 
accordance with the Statements of Asset Valuation Practice and Guidance Notes of 
the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors.

Fixed plant and machinery is included in the valuation of buildings. Operational 
Properties are valued on open market (existing use) basis, or where this cannot be 
assessed because there is no market for the subject asset, the Depreciated 
Replacement Cost. 

Council Dwellings are valued on Existing Use Value for Social Housing (EUV-SH). 
- Components
The Council’s policy is to account for components where the total asset has a gross 
book value in excess of £1m and where any individual component has a value in 
excess of £100,000. With regard to HRA dwellings, the major common components 
are identified within each Beacon type, and the value of each component divided by 
its useful life provides the annual depreciation charge.

- Impairment
Assets are assessed at each year end to establish the possibility of impairment.  
Where indications exist and are estimated to be material, the asset is revalued and if 
lower than the carrying value, an impairment loss is recognised for the shortfall.
Where impairment losses are identified, they are accounted for as follows:

 Where there is a balance of previous revaluation gains for the asset in the 
Revaluation Reserve, the carrying amount of the asset is written down against 
that balance (up to the amount of the accumulated gains).

 Where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve or an insufficient 
balance, the carrying amount of the asset is written down against the relevant 
service lines in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

Where an impairment loss is subsequently reversed, the reversal is credited to the 
relevant service lines in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, up 
to the amount of the original loss, adjusted for depreciation that would have been 
charged if the loss had not been recognised. 

- Disposal
Income from the disposal of Property, Plant and Equipment is accounted for on an 
accruals basis. Such income, following payment of any pooling liability to central 
government (in respect of housing capital receipts from the sale of dwellings through 
the Right to Buy (RTB) scheme), is included in the Balance Sheet within Usable 
Capital Receipts. 

Page 21



ACCOUNTING POLICIES

When an asset is disposed of or decommissioned, any receipt arising (net of selling 
costs) is set against the carrying value of the asset in the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement, so comprising a gain or loss on disposal. Any remaining 
revaluation gains in the Revaluation Reserve are transferred to the Capital 
Adjustment Account. 
Proceeds in excess of £10,000 are categorised as capital receipts. A proportion of 
sales proceeds relating to HRA disposals is payable to the Government under 
pooling arrangements. Following the introduction of self-financing, and a revised RTB 
scheme, some elements of RTB proceeds have to be recycled to deliver new social 
housing.
Net receipts are credited to the Usable Capital Receipts Reserve to be used for new 
capital investment or set aside to reduce the council’s underlying need to borrow (the 
capital financing requirement). Receipts are appropriated to the Reserve from the 
General Fund Balance via the Movement in Reserves Statement.
Any amounts written-off following a disposal is not a charge against council tax, as 
the cost of fixed assets are fully provided for under separate arrangements for capital 
financing. Amounts are appropriated to the Capital Adjustment Account from the 
General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement.

1.8. Intangible Assets
Intangible assets are non-financial fixed assets that do not have physical substance 
but are identifiable and are controlled by the local authority through custody or legal 
rights. 
Intangible assets are measured at cost and are not subject to revaluations, they are 
amortised over their economic lives on a straight-line basis, typically over a period of 
5 years. 

1.9. Heritage Assets
Separate disclosure of the carrying amounts of the council’s heritage assets is 
required at ‘valuation’, where that valuation can be made by any method that is 
appropriate and relevant. There is no requirement for valuations to be carried out or 
verified by external valuers, nor is there any prescribed minimum period between 
valuations if the authority can demonstrate that such a process would not add value 
to users of the accounts. Thus assets identified as Heritage Assets by Gravesham 
are reflected in the accounts at their insurance valuation, which is reviewed annually.

The initial recognition of the asset is in accordance with our accounting policy on 
recognising Property, Plant & Equipment (See 1.7). Where information on the cost or 
value is not available, and the cost of obtaining the information outweighs the 
benefits to the users of the financial statements, that asset is not be recognised on 
the Balance Sheet, and an appropriate disclosure is made instead.

Due to the historic nature of the assets within this category, depreciation is not 
applied.

1.10. Investment Properties
Investment Property is property (land and/or buildings) held solely to earn rental 
income or for capital appreciation or both. Investment Property is initially recognised 
at cost, but is subject to valuation at fair value at the end of each accounting period. 

Page 22



ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Properties are not depreciated but are revalued annually to market conditions at 
year-end. Gains and losses on revaluation are posted to the Financing & Investment 
line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. The same treatment 
is applied to gains/losses on disposal.

1.11. Charges to Revenue for Non-Current Assets
General Fund service revenue accounts, central support services and trading 
accounts are charged with the following amounts in relation the use of assets during 
the year;

 depreciation attributable to the assets used by the relevant service

 revaluation and impairment losses used by the service (where these exceed 
accumulated gains held in the Revaluation Reserve)

 amortisation of intangible fixed assets used by the relevant service

1.12. Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital under Statute
Revenue expenditure funded from capital under statute (REFCUS) represents 
expenditure that may be capitalised under statutory provisions but does not result in 
the creation of non-current assets. The expenditure items are generally outgoing 
grants, or expenditure on property not owned by the authority. Such expenditure 
incurred during the year is charged to the relevant service account in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. Where the council has 
determined to meet the cost of the revenue expenditure from existing capital 
resources or by borrowing, a transfer to the Capital Adjustment Account is made. 
This reverses out the amounts charged against the General Fund Balance in the 
Movement in Reserves Statement so there is no impact on the level of Council Tax.

1.13. Government Grants and Contributions
Government grants and contributions are recognised as due to the authority when 
there is reasonable assurance that;

 the Authority will comply with any conditions attached to the payments, and;

 the grants or contributions will be received. 
Where conditions have not yet been complied with, the grants and contributions are 
carried within the Authority’s Balance Sheet as creditors.  When conditions are 
satisfied, grant and contribution amounts are released to the individual Service 
Revenue Accounts within the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
Capital grants and contributions are credited to the Taxation and Non-Specific Grant 
line in the Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Statement where conditions are 
satisfied.  Capital grants that have not yet been used to finance capital expenditure 
are posted to the Capital Grants Unapplied Reserve; those that have been applied 
are credited to the Capital Adjustment Account.

1.14. Leases
Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.
Finance leases are accounted for when the risks and rewards relating to the leased 
asset are substantially transferred to the council, with rentals payable being 
apportioned between;

Page 23



ACCOUNTING POLICIES

 a charge for the acquisition of the interest in the asset, with a liability in the 
Balance Sheet at the start of the lease, written down as leasing payments are 
due, and;

 a finance charge against Net Operating Expenditure in the authority’s 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as the leasing payments 
are due.

Assets recognised by way of finance leases are treated in the same way as Property, 
Plant and Equipment assets, with the only notable exception being that depreciation 
is charged over the term of the lease where this is shorter than asset’s estimated 
useful life.  Finance leases are recognised within the Balance Sheet at fair value (at 
the date of the lease’s inception).

1.15. Repurchase of Borrowing
Gains and losses on the repurchase of or early settlement of borrowing are credited 
and debited to Financing and Investment Income in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement in the year of repurchase/settlement.
However, where repurchase has taken place as part of a restructuring of the loan 
portfolio and therefore;

 old debt is replaced with new debt by means of an exchange of debt 
instruments between an existing borrower and lender or the terms of an 
existing liability are modified, and;

 the terms of the loan debt exchanged are not substantially different or the 
modification of the terms of an existing liability is not substantial,

the premium or discount is respectively deducted from or added to the amortised cost 
of the new or modified loan and the write-down to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement is spread over the life of the loan by an adjustment to the 
effective interest rate. Where premiums and discounts have been charged to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, regulations allow the impact on 
the General Fund Balance to be spread over future years. In the case of the Housing 
Revenue Account, in accordance with Local Authority Accounting Panel (LAAP) 
Bulletin 26 the amount chargeable to the HRA is amortised over a maximum period 
of 10 years.
The reconciliation of amounts charged to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement to the net charge required against the General Fund Balance 
is managed by a transfer to or from the Financial Instruments Adjustment Account in 
the Movement in Reserves Statement. 

1.16. Debtors and Creditors
The accounts of the Council are maintained on an accruals basis i.e. sums due to or 
from the Council during the year are included whether or not the cash has actually 
been received or paid in the year, with the exception set out above (policy 2).  
Debts due to the Council are recorded as they become due and the Debtors section 
of the Balance Sheet represents the amounts due during the year which remain 
unpaid at the year-end, from which a sum is deducted as a debt impairment 
provision.
Interest payable is accrued to 31 March annually on all loans outstanding at that 
date. Interest on short-term investments due, but not received as at 31 March is also 
accrued where this is material.

Page 24



ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Instalments of interest on Housing Act advances and deferred payments are brought 
into account on the day they fall due for payment, irrespective of the period to which 
they relate.
Housing Revenue Account gross rent income is brought into account for the full year 
irrespective of debit and collection dates.

1.17. Stocks and Long Term Contracts
Bar, kiosk and other small stocks are valued at cost price.
Work-in-progress, representing uncompleted rechargeable jobs as at 31 March 
annually, is valued at cost including an allocation of overheads.
Long Term contracts are defined as “contracts entered into for the design, 
manufacture or construction of a single substantial asset or the provision of a service 
(or of a combination of assets or services which together constitute a single project) 
where the time taken substantially to complete the contract is such that the contract 
activity falls into different accounting periods” The Council makes a disclosure in the 
notes to the Core Financial Statements in respect of any capital contracts that meet 
this definition.

1.18. Cost of Management and Support Services
The principles recommended by CIPFA (under the Service Reporting Code of 
Practice) on accounting for management and support services are followed with the 
following exceptions:

 the apportionment basis is derived from the estimated percentage allocations 
of the entire service across other services to whom activities relate  

 costs are allocated based on the original budget set rather than the actual 
outturn for the year.

These exceptions are made in order to speed up the preparation of the accounts, the 
impact of which is not considered to be material.
The cost of computing services is allocated on the basis of actual use and the 
expenses of administrative buildings are apportioned on the basis of space used.

1.19. Provisions
Provisions are charged as an expense to the appropriate service line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement when the authority has an 
obligation, and are measured at the best estimate at the balance sheet date of the 
expenditure required to settle the obligation.  When payments are eventually made, 
they are charged to the provisions carried in the balance sheet. Any under/over 
provision is then released/charged to revenue once the obligation has completed.

1.20. Reserves
Amounts set aside for purposes falling outside the definition of provisions are 
considered as reserves, and transfers to and from them are distinguished from 
service expenditure disclosed in the Statement of Accounts. Certain items such as 
the Revaluation Reserve and the Capital Adjustment Account can only be used for 
specific statutory purposes and thus are not available for discretionary purposes 
earmarked by the Council, further details of which appear in the Movement in 
Reserves Statement.

Page 25



ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Reserves include earmarked reserves set aside for specific policy purposes and 
balances which represent resources set aside for purposes such as general 
contingencies and cash flow management. Statements concerning the purpose and 
usage of all provisions and specific reserves appear in the notes to the core financial 
statements.

1.21. Investments
Long-term investments are shown in the Balance Sheet at the original purchase price 
plus related costs (brokerage, fees, etc.). Available for sale assets are shown in the 
Balance Sheet under current assets at fair value, and all other short-term 
investments are shown under current assets at the actual sums lent.

1.22. VAT
VAT, whether of a capital or revenue nature, is included in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement only to the extent it is unrecoverable. The 
Council’s partial exemption status is reviewed on an annual basis.

1.23. Employee Benefits
Three categories of employee benefits exist under IAS 19 and IPSAS 25 Employee 
Benefits, as detailed below.
Benefits payable during employment:
 

a) Short-term employee benefits, such as wages and salaries, paid annual leave 
and paid sick leave, bonuses and non-monetary benefits (e.g. cars) for current 
employees. 

b) Benefits earned by current employees but payable twelve months or more after 
the end of the reporting period e.g. long-service awards 

Termination benefits:
This covers costs that are payable as a result of either an employer’s decision to 
terminate an employee’s employment before the normal retirement date; or an 
employee’s decision to accept voluntary redundancy in exchange for those benefits. 
These are often lump-sum payments, but also include enhancement of retirement 
benefits, and salary until the end of a specified notice period if the employee renders 
no further service that provides economic benefits to the authority. 
In the event of notice of termination being served on an employee, the costs of 
redundancy are accrued to the year that the notice is served, but other costs will be 
charged to the year they are incurred. 

Post-employment benefits:
As part of the terms and conditions of employment of its employees, the Council
offers retirement benefits.  Although these benefits are not actually payable until 
employees retire, the commitment that the authority has to make those future 
payments must be recognised at the time that employees earn their entitlement.  The 
Local Government Pension Scheme is administered by Kent County Council – this is 
a funded defined benefit final salary scheme, meaning that both the Council and 
employees pay contributions into a fund, calculated at a level intended to balance the 
pension’s liabilities with investment assets.

Page 26



ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Under International Accounting Standard 19 (IAS 19), the employer is required to 
recognise as an asset or liability the surplus/deficit in the pension scheme.  The 
surplus / deficit in the pension scheme is the excess/shortfall of the value of assets 
when compared to the present value of the scheme liabilities.  A pre-requisite of the 
introduction of IAS 19 was that it did not impact on taxation requirements.  Where the 
contributions paid to the pension scheme do not match the change in the authority’s 
recognised liability for the year, any such variance is dealt with by an equivalent 
appropriation to or from a pensions reserve.  Actuarial gains/losses are shown as 
movements on the pensions asset/liability account and pensions reserve.  There is 
no impact on the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  The Balance 
Sheet shows the net pension asset or liability and an equivalent pension reserve 
balance.
Contributions to the pension scheme are determined by the Fund’s actuary on a 
triennial basis.  The latest formal valuation of the Kent County Council Pension Fund 
for funding purposes was at 31 March 2016 and changes to contribution rates as a 
result of that valuation will take effect from 1 April 2017. 

 Service Cost comprising:

- Current service cost – the increase in liabilities as a result of years of service 
earned this year – allocated in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement to the services for which the employees worked

- Past service cost – the increase in liabilities as a result of a scheme 
amendment or curtailment whose effect relates to years of service earned in 
earlier years – debited to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services in 
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. [Note that the 
treatment of past service costs will depend on the decisions of the authority 
about how they are allocated to service segments].

- Net interest on the net defined benefit liability (asset), i.e. net interest expense 
for the authority – the change during the period in the net defined benefit 
liability (asset) that arises from the passage of time charged to the Financing 
and Investment Income and Expenditure line of the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement – this is calculated by applying the discount rate 
used to measure the defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the period 
to the net defined benefit liability (asset) at the beginning of the period  - 
taking into account any changes in the net defined benefit liability (asset) 
during the period as a result of contribution and benefit payments.

 Remeasurements comprising :

- the return on plan assets – excluding amounts included in net interest on the 
net defined benefit liability (asset) – charged to the Pensions Reserve as 
Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure

- actuarial gains and losses – changes in the net pensions liability that arise 
because events have not coincided with assumptions made at the last 
actuarial valuation or because the actuaries have updated their assumptions – 
charged to the Pensions Reserve as Other Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure

Page 27



ACCOUNTING POLICIES

 Contributions paid to the Kent County Council pension fund – cash paid as 
employer’s contributions to the pension fund in settlement of liabilities; not 
accounted for as an expense.

In relation to retirement benefits, statutory provisions require the General Fund 
Balance to be charged with the amount payable by the authority to the pension fund 
or directly to pensioners in the year, not the amount calculated according to the 
relevant accounting standards.  In the Movement in Reserves Statement, this means 
that there are transfers to and from the Pensions Reserve to remove the notional 
debits and credits for retirement benefits and replace them with debits for the cash 
paid to the pension fund and pensioners and any such amounts payable but unpaid 
at the year-end.  The negative balance that arises on the Pensions Reserve thereby 
measures the beneficial impact to the General Fund of being required to account for 
retirement benefits on the basis of cash flows rather than as benefits are earned by 
employees.

1.24. Provision for Debt Impairment
The provision for bad and doubtful debts is calculated having regard to the nature of 
the debt, its age and the likelihood of recovery. The calculations for each type of 
debt, i.e. Council Tax, NDR, Rents, Sundry Debtors etc. are based on historical 
evidence and the methodology and individual percentages applied to calculate the 
provisions are reviewed regularly.

1.25. Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value and carried at their amortised 
cost. Annual charges to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement for 
interest payable are based on the carrying amount of the liability, multiplied by the 
effective rate of interest for the instrument. The amount presented in the Balance 
Sheet is the outstanding principal repayable, and interest charged to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is the amount payable for the 
year in the loan agreement.

1.26. Financial Assets
Financial assets are classified into two types:

 loans and receivables – assets that have fixed or determinable payments but 
are not quoted in an active market.

 available-for-sale assets – assets that have a quoted market price and/or do 
not have fixed or determinable payments.

1.27. Loans and Receivables
Loans and receivables are initially measured at fair value and carried at their 
amortised cost. Annual credits to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement for interest receivable are based on the carrying amount of the asset 
multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the instrument. The amount presented in 
the Balance Sheet is the outstanding principal receivable, and interest credited to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is the amount receivable for the 
year in the loan agreement.

Page 28



ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Where assets are identified as impaired because of a likelihood arising from a past 
event that payments due under the contract will not be made, the asset is written 
down and a charge made to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.
Any gains and losses that arise on the derecognition (i.e. cessation or transfer of the 
loan) of the asset are credited/debited to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement.
Where the Council makes loans with interest at less than market rates, for instance in 
respect of Improvement Grants, these are termed “Soft Loans”. When soft loans are 
made, a loss is recorded in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
for the present value of the interest that will be foregone over the life of the loan, 
resulting in a lower amortised cost than the outstanding principal. Interest is credited 
at a marginally higher effective rate of interest than the rate receivable from the 
borrower, with the difference serving to increase the amortised cost of the loan in the 
Balance Sheet. The impact of soft loans on the General Fund Balance is the interest 
receivable for the financial year – the reconciliation of amounts debited and credited 
to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement to the net gain required 
against the General Fund Balance is managed by a transfer to or from the Financial 
Instruments Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement. This 
approach is also adopted where the income pertaining to a capital receipt is received 
over several years rather than in a lump sum at the time of disposal.

1.28. Available for Sale Assets
Available-for-sale assets are initially measured and carried at fair value. Where the 
asset has fixed or determinable payments, annual credits to the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement for interest receivable are based on the 
amortised cost of the asset multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the 
instrument. Where there are no fixed or determinable payments, income (e.g. 
dividends) is credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
when it becomes receivable by the Council.
Assets are maintained in the Balance Sheet at fair value. Values are based on the 
following principles:

 instruments with quoted market prices – the market price

 other instruments with fixed and determinable payments – discounted cash 
flow analysis.

Changes in fair value are balanced by an entry in the Available-for-Sale Reserve and 
the gain/loss is recognised in the Surplus or Deficit on Revaluation of Available for 
Sale Assets. Where assets are identified as impaired, the asset is written down and a 
charge made to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.
Any gains and losses that arise on the derecognition of the asset are credited/debited 
to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, along with any 
accumulated gains/losses previously recognised in the Available for Sale Reserve.
Where fair value cannot be measured reliably, the instrument is carried at cost (less 
any impairment losses).

1.29. Fair Value Measurement
The authority measures some of its non-financial assets and some of its financial 
instruments at fair value at each reporting date.  Fair value is the price that would be 
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 

Page 29



ACCOUNTING POLICIES

between market participants at the measurement date.  The fair value measurement 
assumes that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place 
either: 

a) In the principal market for the asset or liability, or

b) In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the   
asset or liability.

Inputs to the valuation techniques in respect of assets and liabilities for which fair 
value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the 
fair value hierarchy as follows:

 Level 1 – quote prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities that the authority can access at the measurement date

 Level 2 – inputs other than quote prices included within Level 1 that are 
observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly

 Level 3 – unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

1.30. Events after the Balance Sheet Date
Events arising after the Balance Sheet date are reflected in the Statement of 
Accounts if they provide additional evidence of conditions that existed at the Balance 
Sheet date and materially affect the amounts to be included. These are known as 
‘adjusting events’.
Events which arise after the Balance Sheet date and concern conditions which did 
not exist at that time are detailed in the notes to the core financial statements if they 
are of such materiality that their disclosure is required for the fair presentation of the 
financial statements. These are known as ‘non-adjusting events’.

1.31. Contingent Assets/Liabilities
Any contingent assets as at the Balance Sheet date are disclosed within the 
accounts by way of a note if the inflow of a receipt or economic benefit is probable.
Contingent liabilities as at the Balance Sheet date are disclosed within the accounts 
by way of a note if a payment or transfer of economic benefit is possible.

1.32. Council Tax & Non-Domestic Rate (NDR) Income
The Council is a billing authority and as such is required to bill local residents and 
businesses for Council Tax and Non-Domestic (Business) Rates. The Council acts as 
an agent on behalf of the major precepting authorities, Kent County Council, the Kent 
Police and Crime Commissioner and the Kent and Medway Fire & Rescue Authority 
for Council Tax, and Kent County Council, Kent Fire & Rescue Service and the 
Government for Non-Domestic Rates. 
Accordingly, the debtors and creditors in the Balance Sheet only show the amount 
owed by and to taxpayers in respect of Council Tax and Non-Domestic Rates for the 
element relating to Gravesham Borough Council. Amounts relating to major 
precepting authorities will be shown as net debtors or creditors on the Balance Sheet. 
The amount shown in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as the 
demand on the Collection Fund includes the accrued amount of Council Tax and 
Non-Domestic Rates collected as well as amounts from previous year’s estimates. 

Page 30



ACCOUNTING POLICIES

This adjustment is subsequently reversed within the Movement in Reserves 
Statement to the Collection Fund Adjustment Account.

1.33. Prior Period Adjustments
Material adjustments applicable to prior years arising from changes in accounting 
policies or standards are reflected by restating the comparable figures in the 
Statement of Accounts, together with a disclosure note detailing the reasons for such 
restatement. 

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Finance and Audit Committee

Date: 13 March 2018

Reporting officer: Assistant Director (Corporate Services)

Subject: Glossary of Terms in the Financial Statement

Purpose and summary of report: 
To provide an update on the review of the Glossary of Terms and which currently forms part 
of the Council’s Financial Statement.

Recommendations:
1. The Finance & Audit Committee accepts the amendments to the Glossary put forward 

in this Report and approves their inclusion into the Financial Statement for 2017/18.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Observations have been made at recent Finance and Audit Committees regarding 
the Glossary of (Financial) Terms that is appended to the Council’s Financial 
Statement. The general consensus amongst Committee members was that some 
of the existing definitions within this appendix needed revision to explain these 
terminologies more clearly and that there were other terminologies used in the 
main body of the Financial Statement not referred to in the Glossary but which 
required an explanation.

1.2 A small working group (comprising Cllr Hurdle, Cllr Theobald, Cllr Caller, Cllr 
Rayner, Simon Cogger [Exchequer Manager] and Alexie Leech [Corporate 
Performance Administrative Assistant]) was established to review the current 
Glossary of Terms and make appropriate improvements where necessary.

2. REVIEW OF THE GLOSSARY OF TERMS

2.1 The working group met on a number of occasions with the objectives of firstly 
ensuring that the definitions already part of the Glossary were clearly explained 
and secondly to go through the Council’s Financial Statement for 2016/2017 
ensuring that any accounting or other technical term that was not currently defined 
in the Glossary was incorporated into the revised version.

Page 33 Agenda Item 6



2

2.2 The Councillors within the Working Group were instrumental in the review process 
by advising of those existing terminologies which they felt required a better 
explanation and, after each going through the last Financial Statement the Council 
published, compiling a list of further terminologies that they considered should be 
added to the Glossary.

2.3 The Group as a whole then worked on these definitions until all the Councillors 
within the Group were satisfied that the revised Glossary was complete and 
contained definitions that were easily understood.

3. APPROVAL OF REVISED GLOSSARY OF TERMS

3.1 The revised Glossary of Terms to be approved is shown in Appendix 2.

4. BACKGROUND PAPERS

4.1 The Glossary of Terms in the Council’s Financial Statement for 2016/17.

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 34



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

     

Legal None

Finance and 
Value for 
Money 

None

Risk 
Assessment

None

Screening for Equality ImpactsEquality 
Impact 
Assessment Question

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
Yes - by explaining terminologies that will assist the more casual reader 
to understand the Council's Financial Statement.

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate 
Plan

Corporate Objective Four - a Sound and Self Sufficient Council

Crime and 
Disorder

Treasury Management activities are carried out in accordance with the Treasury 
Management Strategy and Annual Investment Strategy which minimises the risk of 
criminal activities.

Digital and 
website 
implications

None

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable 
adults

None

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 2

Definitions in the Revised Glossary of Terms

Accounting Period 
The financial year (twelve month period) commencing 1 April and ending 31 March 
(of the following year).

Accounting Policies 
The principles and practises that must be applied to financial statements by a Local 
Authority to meet the requirements of Central Government, external audit and other 
accounting bodies.

Accrual
An adjustment for either income that relates to a given period but which is not yet 
reflected in the accounts or expenses that have been incurred within a given period 
but not recorded in the accounts to date.

Actuarial Gains and Losses 
A professional assessment of the increases or decreases in the projected obligations 
of a defined benefit pension scheme as a result of a (periodic) re-evaluation of the 
assumptions made in the previous assessment.

Budget
An estimate of expenditure and income for a set period of time.

Capital Adjustment Account
This account provides a balancing mechanism between the different rates at which 
assets are depreciated under the Code and are financed through the capital controls 
system.

Capital Expenditure 
Expenditure on acquiring fixed and tangible assets (such as land, buildings and 
equipment) that will be used beyond 31 March or expenditure that adds value or 
maintains existing fixed assets.

Capital Financing
Funds used to pay for capital expenditure.

Capital Receipts 
A receipt of money from the sale of fixed or tangible assets that yield benefit to the 
Council.  Capital receipts are used to repay the debt on assets financed from loan or 
to finance new capital expenditure, subject to compliance with statutory 
requirements.

Cash and cash equivalents
Internally managed short-term highly liquid investments (of three months or less from the 
date of acquisition) are recognised as cash equivalents, being easily convertible into a 
specified amount of cash.

Page 37



Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA)
The principal accounting body dealing with local government finance.

Collection Fund
The Fund in which all the income collected from Council Tax and Business Rates is 
paid into. The funds that the Council needs to run its services (as set out in its 
budget) are paid out of the Collection Fund.

Community Assets 
Assets that the Council intends to hold in perpetuity, that furthers the social wellbeing 
and interests of the local community and that may have restrictions placed on their 
disposal (such as parks and historic buildings).

Contingent Asset 
A potential asset for the Council that is dependent on the outcome of a decision or 
action outside of the Council’s control. Typically a contingent asset is related to a 
legal action involving the authority, the outcome of which is uncertain at the time of 
preparing the balance sheet.

Contingent Liability 
A potential liability for the Council that is dependent on the outcome of a decision or 
action outside of the Council’s control. Typically a contingent liability is related to a 
legal action involving the authority, the outcome of which is uncertain at the time of 
preparing the balance sheet.

Creditors 
Individuals and organisations that are owed amounts by the Council where payments 
for goods and services pertaining to the financial year have not been made by 31 
March. 

Current Assets 
A current asset is one that is held as at 31 March of the relevant financial year but 
expected to be consumed or realised by 31 March the following year.

Current Liabilities 
A current liability is one that is held as outstanding as at 31 March of the relevant 
financial year but expected to be paid or discharged by 31 March the following year.

Debtors 
Individuals and organisations that owe amounts to the Authority for goods and 
services pertaining to the financial year but which have not been received by 31 
March.

De Minimis 
The Council applies a de-minimis or minimum value of £12,000 for the acquisition, 
creation or enhancement of fixed assets before this expenditure is treated as capital.  
Any expenditure below this level is treated as an operational expense in the financial 
year during which it has been incurred.

Page 38



Depreciation/Amortisation
The measure of the wearing out, consumption or other reduction in the useful 
economic life of a fixed or tangible asset.

General Fund 
An account providing details of expenditure on day-to-day operational costs of 
council services excluding those shown in the Collection Fund and those shown in 
the Housing Revenue Account, which are recorded separately.

Housing Benefits
A system of financial assistance to individuals towards certain housing costs 
administered by local authorities and subsidised by central government.

Housing Revenue Account (HRA)
An account that is kept entirely separate from the General Fund and which includes 
income and expenditure arising from the provision of housing by the Council as a 
landlord.

Impairment
Impairment is where the book value (or carrying value) of an asset exceeds the 
amount that could be recovered through use or sale of the asset.

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
The standards that have been produced and adopted to govern accounting and the 
move to more globally recognised practices.

Investments 
Investments fall into two categories : 
Short-term investments where the duration between the Balance Sheet date and 
the date the Council intends to redeem the investment is less than one year;  and
Long-term investments where the duration between the Balance Sheet date and 
the date the Council intends to redeem the investment is more than one year.

Kent Business Rates Pool
The KBRP is a voluntary arrangement between Kent County Council and the 
majority of Kent Districts which allows member authorities to retain locally a 
proportion of any growth in business rate income with the aim of furthering economic 
development across the region.

Lease
A legal contract that allows the use of an asset through a formal rental agreement for 
a specified period of time at a specified cost.  Leases fall into two categories :
A finance lease is a lease that transfers substantially all the risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership of an asset. Title may or may not eventually be transferred.
An operating lease is any other lease that is not a finance lease.

Liabilities
Those amounts which will become payable by the authority either in the short or long 
term.

Page 39



Minimum Revenue Provision 
MRP is a charge those councils that are not debt-free are required to make in their 
accounts for the repayment of debt and which is needed to finance their capital 
programme.

Net Asset Value
The value of a fund’s assets less the value of its liabilities. The measure is often 
used as a measurement to assist in identifying whether a fund is overvalued or 
undervalued.

Non-Current Assets
Tangible assets that yield benefits to the Council and the services it provides for a 
period of more than one year

Non-Domestic Rate
Amounts payable to local authorities by organisations or businesses from non-
domestic properties.

Outturn
The actual results for the financial year specified.

Overheads
Management and administrative costs (including those of buildings) - the majority of 
which are allocated across council services to reflect the true cost of services. 

Precept
The requests made by precepting authorities to billing authorities, e.g. Gravesham 
Borough Council. The major precepting authorities are Kent County Council, Kent 
Police and Crime Commissioner and the Kent and Medway Fire and Rescue 
Authority. These precepts are shown in the Collection Fund. 
Parish Councils are local precepting authorities, e.g. Vigo Parish Council, who raise 
money by means of a precept on the relevant billing authority’s General Fund.

Property, Plant & Equipment 
All assets with physical substance that are used in the production or supply of goods 
and services that are expected to be used beyond 31 March of the relevant financial 
year.

Public Works Loan Board
Central Government Agency which lends money to local authorities usually at 
interest rates which are more favourable than those found elsewhere.

Reserve
A sum that has been set aside for use in future and earmarked for spending only on 
a specific purpose in order to prevent the funds from being used on other items of 
general expenditure. 

Page 40



Revaluation Reserve 
This account is the accumulation of net surpluses that have arisen from the 
revaluation of fixed and tangible assets and is required under fair value accounting to 
deal with the current values of these assets.

Revenue Expenditure
The costs related to the day-to-day running of services such as salaries and energy 
costs.

Revenue Support Grant
A grant paid by Central Government to aid Local Authority services in general as 
opposed to specific grants which may only be used for a specific purpose. These are 
credited to the Net Cost of Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement. (The Council may also receive other non-specific grants and these are 
shown with the Revenue Support Grant in the “Taxation and Non-Specific Grant 
Income” line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.)

Section 151 Officer
Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 requires the Council to appoint an 
officer responsible for the proper administration of the Council’s financial affairs. The 
Director (Corporate Services) is the Council’s Section 151 Officer.

Soft Loans 
These are loans made by the authority below prevailing interest rates (i.e. interest 
free or low interest loans) and include loans made to local voluntary sector 
organisations that undertake activities that the authority considers benefits the local 
population.

Virement
An approved transfer of funds from one part of a budget to another, usually to meet a 
planned overspend in one section of a budget and which can be met by a planned 
underspend in another section of the budget.

Working Balances
The revenue reserves of an authority made up of the accumulated surplus of income 
over expenditure on the General Fund or the Housing Revenue Account which may 
be utilised to provide for unforeseen circumstances or to ensure that payments can 
be made pending the receipt of income and may be used to reduce the Council Tax.

Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Classification: Part A 

Key Decision: No 

Gravesham Borough Council 

Report to: Finance & Audit Committee 

Date: 13 March 2018 

Reporting officer: James Larkin, Head of Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service 
(Chief Audit Executive) 
 

Subject: Audit & Counter Fraud Charter 

Purpose and summary of report:  

To present for approval the Audit & Counter Fraud Charter.  

Recommendations: 

Members approve the Charter presented at Appendix 2.  

 
1. Background 

1.1 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (Standards) state that: The purpose, 
authority and responsibility of the internal audit activity must be formally defined in 
an internal audit charter, consistent with the Definition of Internal Auditing, the 
Code of Ethics and The Standards. The chief audit executive must periodically 
review the internal audit charter and present it to senior management and the 
board for approval. 

1.2 The Audit & Counter Fraud Charter in place was approved by the Finance & Audit 
Committee on 14 March 2017.  

2. Review of the Charter 

2.1 During the 2017-18 year, a robust self-assessment has been carried out to 
determine the level of compliance of the team’s activities with the Standards. 
There has also been an external quality assessment conducted by an 
independent assessor from Gateway Assure Ltd. While the final report for the 
external assessment is yet to be received, the assessor raised no concerns about 
the Charter or its content. 

2.2 There have been no material changes to the content of the Charter. However, 
minor amendments to its references to the Head of Audit & Counter Fraud have 
been made more generic and specific references to the previous holder of the 
post have removed.  

Page 43 Agenda Item 7



2 

2.3 The Charter will be reviewed and presented to the Finance & Committee on an 
annual basis, to ensure it continues to reflect current arrangements and retains its 
status.   

3. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

3.1 Nil   

Page 44



3 

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1 

Legal  The Accounts & Audit Regulations 2015 require local authorities to: undertake an 
effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness of its risk management, control 
and governance processes, taking into account public sector internal auditing 
standards or guidance.  The Section 151 Officer of a local authority is responsible for 
establishing the internal audit service.  Gravesham Borough Council has delegated 
this responsibility to the Section 151 Officer of Medway Council to deliver internal 
audit services through the Shared Service to both authorities. The Public Sector 
Internal Audit Standards are supported by CIPFA’s Local Government Application 
Note to the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards. 

The Charter is based upon the requirements set out in the Public Sector Internal 
Audit Standards and the CIPFA Local Government Application Note.     

Finance and Value 
for Money  

An adequate and effective internal audit function provides the council with assurance 
on the proper, economic, efficient and effective use of council resources in delivery of 
services, as well as helping to identify fraud and error that could have an adverse 
effect on the financial statements of the council. 

Risk Assessment The Charter establishes the purpose, authority and responsibility of the Audit & 
Counter Fraud function.  It is therefore vital that the council periodically reviews the 
Charter to ensure that the function is effective in delivering its responsibilities to the 
council and that the Charter itself is compliant with proper practice.    

Equality Impact 
Assessment 

Screening for Equality Impacts 

Question Answer Explanation 

4.  a. Does the decision being 
made or recommended 
through this paper have 
potential to cause 
adverse impact or 
discriminate against 
different groups in the 
community? 

No No impact 

b. Does the decision being 
made or recommended 
through this paper make 
a positive contribution to 
promoting equality? 

No No impact 

c. What steps are you 
taking to mitigate, 
reduce, avoid or 
minimise the impacts 
identified above? 

 N/A 

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have given 
due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted in the 
table above 

Page 45



 

Corporate Business 
Plan 

The work of the Audit & Counter Fraud Team supports the council in achieving all 
of its objectives set out in the Corporate Business Plan but is particularly relevant to 
Objective 4: Sound & self-sufficient council.  
 

Crime and Disorder The Audit & Counter Fraud Team provides an independent and objective opinion to 
the organisation on the control environment, by evaluating its effectiveness in 
achieving the organisations’ objectives. The work of the team combined with a 
sound internal control environment has a positive contribution to community safety 
in its broadest sense. 
 

Information 
Governance 

There are no direct digital or website implications to this report. 

Safeguarding There are no direct safeguarding implications to this report. 

 

Page 46



2017-18 

Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service 
Medway Council & Gravesham Borough Council 
 

Audit & Counter Fraud 
Charter 

Medway Council & 

Gravesham Borough Council 

Page 47



Page 2 of 5 

I. Introduction 
The Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service for Medway Council and Gravesham Borough Council was 
formed on 1 March 2016. This Charter establishes the purpose, authority and responsibilities of the team 
to deliver audit work including rights of access. It also sets out the team’s position in the organisations 
including functional and operational reporting lines.  

The Chartered Institute of Internal Auditors (CIIA) defines internal auditing as: an independent, objective 
assurance and consulting activity designed to add value and improve an organisation’s operations. It 
helps an organisation accomplish its objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate 
and improve the effectiveness of risk management, control and governance processes.  The Audit & 
Counter Fraud Shared Service combines this role with working alongside the councils to manage their 
fraud risk, including work to prevent, detect and investigate fraudulent activity committed against the 
councils.  

For the purposes of the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) the board is defined as the Audit 
Committee for Medway Council and the Finance & Audit Committee for Gravesham Borough Council.  
Senior Management is defined as the Corporate Management Team for Medway Council and the 
Management Team for Gravesham Borough Council.   

This Charter will be reviewed and presented to the senior management and Boards of both councils on an 
annual basis for approval.  

II. Authority  
Internal audit is a statutory requirement for local government; the Accounts & Audit Regulations 2015 
require local authorities to: undertake an effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness of its risk 
management, control and governance processes, taking into account public sector internal auditing 
standards or guidance.  The Section 151 Officer of a local authority is responsible for establishing the 
internal audit service.  Gravesham Borough Council has delegated this responsibility to the Section 151 
Officer of Medway Council to deliver internal audit services through the Shared Service to both 
authorities.  

The Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service is sponsored by the Section 151 Officers of both Medway 
Council and Gravesham Borough Council, and is responsible to the Audit Committee of Medway Council 
and the Finance & Audit Committee of Gravesham Borough Council (the Audit Committees).   

The Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service will comply with the mandatory elements of the CIIA 
Professional Practices Framework; the mission, the definition of internal audit, the Core Principles, the 
Code of Ethics and the Standards; for local government these are the Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards.  

The Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service, with strict accountability for confidentiality and safeguarding 
records and information, is authorised full, free, and unrestricted access to any and all records, physical 
properties, and personnel of Medway Council and Gravesham Borough Council pertinent to carrying out 
any engagement. The service will also have direct access to the Chairs of the Audit Committees. 

III. Responsibility & scope of work  
The Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service is responsible for the delivery of internal audit services in line 
with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (the Standards) and for the delivery of counter-fraud and 
investigation services in line with relevant legislation and best practice.  The service will deliver these 
services in compliance with the Code of Ethics set out by the CIIA. 

The work of the team can be categorised into three key areas;  

Page 48



Page 3 of 5 

Assurance services – an objective examination of evidence for the purpose of providing an 
independent assessment on governance, risk management and control processes for the 
organization. This work will primarily be delivered through planned reviews, though may also 
include responsive engagements requested by clients. Whether planned or responsive, significant 
engagements (taking more than one day) will result in a formal report with an opinion and if 
necessary, formal recommendations.  Examples include financial, performance and compliance 
reviews, verification of data/claims, confirmation of procurement awards, project support.  

Consultancy services – advisory and related client service activities, the nature and scope of which 
are set by the client, are intended to add value and improve an organisation’s governance, risk 
management and control processes without assuming management responsibility. Examples 
include counsel, advice, facilitation, training.   

Counter fraud services – proactive and reactive activities designed to improve the management of 
fraud risk. Whether planned or responsive, significant engagements (taking more than one day) will 
result in a formal report with an opinion and if necessary, formal recommendations. Examples 
include fraud-proofing reviews, investigations, training. Significant engagements .   

The key responsibilities of the team include:  

 Developing a flexible risk-based Audit & Counter Fraud Plan in consultation with senior 
management and presented annually to the Audit Committees for approval, 

 Delivering high quality assurance work focused on the effectiveness of governance arrangements, 
risk management and control to help the organisations to achieve their objectives,  

 Delivering an effective counter fraud service including proactive counter-fraud activity, the 
detection and investigation of cases of suspected fraud and irregularity, 

 Providing responsive consultancy services, acting as a critical friend and the provision of advice & 
information on matters relating to governance, risk and control, 

 Providing the single point of contact for external bodies investigating fraud including the 
Department for Work & Pensions Fraud & Error Service, Police and other Local Authorities,  

 Liaison with external auditors and other assurance providers to seek optimal assurance coverage.  

The remit of the Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service extends to the entire control environment of both 
Medway Council and Gravesham Borough Council.    

In line with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards, the Head of Audit & Counter Fraud (as Chief Audit 
Executive) will report annually with an opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the 
framework of governance, risk management and control of each council, supporting the Annual 
Governance Statement and Statement of Accounts. 

The Audit & Counter Fraud Team works to support Medway Council and Gravesham Borough Council in 
the maintenance and development of their anti-fraud and corruption policies. In both councils, the policy 
frameworks require all instances of suspected or detected fraud, corruption and impropriety to be 
reported to the Audit & Counter Fraud Team.  

IV. Reporting lines 
The Head of Audit & Counter Fraud reports functionally to the Audit Committees, reports in their name to 
these Committees, and has direct rights of access to the Chairs of these Committees.  The Audit 
Committees will:  

 Approve the Audit & Counter Fraud Charter,  

 Approve the risk based Audit & Counter Fraud Plan, 

 Approve the Audit & Counter Fraud resource budget,  

Page 49



Page 4 of 5 

 Receive reports from the Head of Audit & Counter Fraud on the Service’s performance relative to 
its plan and other matters, 

 Receive the annual opinion on the overall control environment of each council.  

The Head of Audit & Counter Fraud reports administratively to the Chief Finance Officer (and S151 
Officer) of Medway Council and the Director – Corporate Services (and S151 Officer) of Gravesham 
Borough Council. 

V. Independence & objectivity  
The Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service will remain free from interference by any element in the 
organisation, including matters of the selection, scope, procedures, frequency, timing, or report content 
of work to permit maintenance of a necessary independent and objective mental attitude. Audit & 
Counter Fraud Officers will have no direct operational responsibility or authority over any of the activities 
audited. Accordingly, they will not implement internal controls, develop procedures, install systems, 
prepare records, or engage in any other activity that may impair their judgment. 

Audit & Counter Fraud Officers will exhibit the highest level of professional objectivity in gathering, 
evaluating, and communicating information about the activity or process being examined. Officers will 
make a balanced assessment of all the relevant circumstances and not be unduly influenced by their own 
interests or by others in forming judgments. Officers are required to notify the Audit & Counter Fraud 
Management Team of any potential impairments to their independence when work is allocated to them. 
All officers are required to submit annual declarations of interest or no interest, the results of which assist 
the allocation of work to the team.  

The allocation of work to individual officers and allocation of supervisory duties will take account of any 
potential impairments (real or perceived) to the independence and objectivity of those officers, including 
but not limited to;  

 Where officers have previously held operational responsibilities within services, they will not be 
allocated any assurance work until three years after they gave up those responsibilities. 

 Where officers provide consultancy services, they will not be allocated any assurance work over 
the specific functions they provided consultancy services to until at least one year after the 
consultancy engagement was completed. 

Given its responsibilities for counter-fraud activities, the Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service cannot 
provide independent assurance over the counter-fraud activities of either council. Instead independent 
assurance over the effectiveness of these arrangements will be sought from an external supplier of audit 
services on a periodic basis.  

In addition to the role of Chief Audit Executive, the Head of Audit & Counter Fraud as a senior officer of 
the councils, may undertake some roles outside of the functions of the Audit & Counter Fraud Shared 
Service as set out in this Charter.  Any assurance work planned or requested where the Head of Audit & 
Counter Fraud has carried out any operational  activities will be assessed for the risk of impairment to 
independence by the Audit & Counter Fraud Management Team, and where necessary the Head of Audit 
& Counter Fraud will have no operational involvement in the delivery of this assurance work with all 
quality management and reporting carried out by other members of the Audit & Counter Fraud 
Management Team.   

The Head of Audit & Counter Fraud will confirm to the Audit Committees of each authority, at least 
annually, the organisational independence of the Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service through the 
annual review of this Charter.  

  

Page 50



Page 5 of 5 

VI. Audit & Counter Fraud Plan  
At least annually, the Head of Audit & Counter Fraud will prepare and submit to senior management and 
the Audit Committees an Audit & Counter Fraud Plan for review and approval. The Chief Audit Executive 
is responsible for ensuring the team has sufficient and appropriate resources to deliver a plan containing 
sufficient assurance and consultancy work to deliver an opinion on the overall control environment of 
each council, supporting the Annual Governance Statement and Statement of Accounts.  The plan will 
consist of a work schedule and a resource budget for the period, and will note the impact of any resource 
limitations.  

The Audit & Counter Fraud Plan will be prepared following an assessment of the authorities’ objectives, 
identified risks and a risk assessment of functions and services, including input of senior management. 
The Head of Audit & Counter Fraud will review and adjust the plan, as necessary, in response to changes 
in the organisation’s business, risks, operations, programs, systems, and controls. Any significant 
deviation from the approved Plan will be communicated through periodic activity reports.  

VII. Reporting & monitoring  
A written report will be prepared and issued by the Head of Audit & Counter Fraud or designee following 
the conclusion of each significant engagement, with the specific distribution of each report agreed in the 
Terms of Reference issued before the work commences.  All final reports are issued to the relevant 
Service Manager/Head of Service, Assistant Director/Chief Officer, Director and the Chief Executive; all 
reports with financial elements are also issued to the Section 151 Officers.  The results of all audit work 
will be reported to senior management and the Audit Committees through routine activity reports and an 
Annual Report.  

In line with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards, the Head of Audit & Counter Fraud (as Chief Audit 
Executive) will report annually with an opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the 
framework of governance, risk management and control of each council, supporting the Annual 
Governance Statement and Statement of Accounts.  This opinion will take into account the strategies, 
objectives and risks, and the expectations of senior management and the Audit Committees of both 
councils. The opinion will be supported by the content of the annual report, setting out a summary of the 
work carried out, a summary of the performance of the team in line with the Quality Assurance & 
Improvement Programme, and will identify any limitations in scope and disclose any qualifications.  

The Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service will ensure findings and recommendations made are followed 
up, will report to senior management and the Audit Committees on the outcomes of this work and will 
follow an escalation process to address any significant findings that remain open. The Audit & Counter 
Fraud Shared Service will not revise the assurance opinions given in final reports based on the results of 
follow up work.  

VIII. Quality Assurance & Improvement Programme  
The Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service will maintain a Quality Assurance and Improvement Program 
(QAIP) that covers all aspects of the activity. The program will include an evaluation of the conformance 
with the Definition of Internal Auditing and the Standards and an evaluation of whether Officers apply the 
Code of Ethics. The program also assesses the efficiency and effectiveness of the activity and identifies 
opportunities for improvement.  The Head of Audit & Counter Fraud will communicate to senior 
management and the Audit Committees on the QAIP.   
 

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Classification: Part A 

Key Decision: No 

Gravesham Borough Council 

Report to: Finance & Audit Committee 

Date: 13 March 2018 

Reporting officer: James Larkin, Head of Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service 
(Chief Audit Executive) 
 

Subject: Audit & Counter Fraud 2018-19 Work Plan 

Purpose and summary of report:  

To present for approval the Audit & Counter Fraud 2018-19 Plan for Gravesham.  

Recommendations: 

Members approve the Audit & Counter Fraud 2018-19 Plan for Gravesham presented at 
Appendix 2.  

 
1. Background 

1.1 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (Standards) require that: The chief 
audit executive must establish risk-based plans to determine the priorities of the 
internal audit activity, consistent with the organisation’s goals. A risk based plan 
has been prepared for the authority to meet this requirement. Since 1 March 2016 
the council’s internal audit activity has been delivered by the Audit & Counter 
Fraud Shared Service with Medway Council. 

2. Review of the Charter 

2.1 The plan has been prepared in line with the requirements of the Standards and is 
based on a risk assessment to ensure the team’s resources are directed to the 
highest areas of risk. This assessment includes; 

2.1.1 Review of the council’s priorities as set out in the Corporate Plan 2015-19, 

2.1.2 Review of the council’s key risks as set out in the Corporate Risk Register,  

2.1.3 Review of the council’s financial plans and budgets, 

2.1.4 Review of service plans and service risk registers, 

2.1.5 The results of previous internal audit work (including the results of the 
follow up process) and other sources of assurance to the council, 

Page 53 Agenda Item 8



2 

2.1.6 The results of a horizon scanning exercise to identify local and national 
issues and risks,  

2.1.7 Identification and risk assessment of those activities key to the delivery of 
the council’s priorities and the management of its identified risks, 

2.2 This risk assessment is matched to the resources available in the team to produce 
the plan presented at Appendix 2. 

3. Reporting against the Audit & Counter Fraud Plan 

3.1 The Audit & Counter Fraud Team report to Management Team and the Finance & 
Audit Committee on a quarterly basis, providing details of the team’s outputs, 
findings and performance against agreed indicators.  

3.2 In addition, the Audit & Counter Fraud Plan will be subject to a quarterly review to 
ensure that it continues to reflect the best use of the available resources. As such, 
it will be possible to revise the plan to add work on new/emerging risks and issues 
as they arise. 

4. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

4.1 Nil   

Page 54



3 

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1 

Legal  The Accounts & Audit Regulations 2015 require local authorities to: undertake an 
effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness of its risk management, control 
and governance processes, taking into account public sector internal auditing 
standards or guidance.  The Section 151 Officer of a local authority is responsible for 
establishing the internal audit service.  Gravesham Borough Council has delegated 
this responsibility to the Section 151 Officer of Medway Council to deliver internal 
audit services through the Shared Service to both authorities. The Public Sector 
Internal Audit Standards are supported by CIPFA’s Local Government Application 
Note to the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards. 

Finance and Value 
for Money  

An adequate and effective internal audit function provides the council with assurance 
on the proper, economic, efficient and effective use of council resources in delivery of 
services, as well as helping to identify fraud and error that could have an adverse 
effect on the financial statements of the council. 

Risk Assessment The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards require that: The chief audit executive 
must establish risk-based plans to determine the priorities of the internal audit 
activity, consistent with the organisation’s goals. The Audit & Counter Fraud Plan is 
intended to ensure that the work of the team is effectively directed and is in line with 
the organisation’s goals. Member approval of the plan ensures the status of the plan 
is maintained. 

Equality Impact 
Assessment 

Screening for Equality Impacts 

Question Answer Explanation 

5.  a. Does the decision being 
made or recommended 
through this paper have 
potential to cause 
adverse impact or 
discriminate against 
different groups in the 
community? 

No No impact 

b. Does the decision being 
made or recommended 
through this paper make 
a positive contribution to 
promoting equality? 

No No impact 

c. What steps are you 
taking to mitigate, 
reduce, avoid or 
minimise the impacts 
identified above? 

 N/A 

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have given 
due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted in the 
table above 

Page 55



 

Corporate Business 
Plan 

The work of the Audit & Counter Fraud Team supports the council in achieving all 
of its objectives set out in the Corporate Business Plan but is particularly relevant to 
Objective 4: Sound & self-sufficient council.  
 

Crime and Disorder The Audit & Counter Fraud Team provides an independent and objective opinion to 
the organisation on the control environment, by evaluating its effectiveness in 
achieving the organisations’ objectives. The work of the team combined with a 
sound internal control environment has a positive contribution to community safety 
in its broadest sense. 
 

Information 
Governance 

There are no direct digital or website implications to this report. 

Safeguarding There are no direct safeguarding implications to this report. 

 

Page 56



 

Page 1 of 10 

 

Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service 
Medway Council & Gravesham Borough Council 
 

Audit & Counter Fraud Plan 
2018-19 

Gravesham Borough Council 
  

Page 57



Page 2 of 10 

I. Introduction 
The Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service was established on 1 March 2016 to provide internal 
audit, counter fraud and investigation services to Medway Council and Gravesham Borough Council.     

Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 and Regulation Six of the Accounts & Audit 
Regulations 201 set out the requirement for Local Authorities to have an Internal Audit function.  The 
Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (the Standards) define Internal Audit as an independent, 
objective assurance and consulting activity designed to add value and improve an organisation’s 
operations. The Standards require that: the chief audit executive must establish risk-based plans to 
determine the priorities of the internal audit activity, consistent with the organisation’s goals.   

The Audit & Counter Fraud Plan is supported by the Charter which sets out the team’s purpose, 
authority and responsibilities, and the team’s Strategy which sets out the key objectives for the 
development of the team. 

II. Preparation of the Audit & Counter Fraud Plan 
The plan has been prepared in line with the requirements of the Standards and is based on a risk 
assessment to ensure our resources are directed to the highest areas of risk. This assessment 
includes; 

 Review of the council’s priorities as set out in the Corporate Plan 2015-19, 

 Review of the council’s key risks as set out in the Corporate Risk Register,  

 Review of the council’s financial plans and budgets, 

 Review of service plans and service risk registers, 

 The results of previous internal audit work and other sources of assurance to the council; 

 Identification and risk assessment of those activities key to the delivery of the council’s 
priorities and the management of its identified risks. 

 Consultation with senior management and the Chair of the Finance & Audit Committee to 
validate this assessment of the council’s risks.   

The risk assessment is used, along with input from senior management and knowledge of the wider 
control environment, to help ensure that our resources are directed to the areas where they are 
considered to be of most effective use to the council in helping to ensure the achievement of its 
objectives, the improvement of internal control and the efficiency of service delivery. 

Where the work of other assurance providers is known to the Audit & Counter Fraud Team, the team 
will seek to review and place reliance on that work to avoid duplication of effort and improve 
assurance coverage.  The team will work to develop and formalize its assurance mapping 
arrangements during the 2018-19 financial year and this may result in amendment to the plan as 
agreed during the quarterly reviews.  

While all council activities are considered in the risk assessment, a cyclical programme of core 
financial and governance activities has been prepared to supplement this risk assessment and help 
ensure the council receives assurance over these functions on a periodic basis. This programme can 

Page 58



Page 3 of 10 

be found at Appendix A to this Plan. The 2017-18 Audit & Counter Fraud Plan includes a total of 115 
days to complete the work identified on the cycle for the year.  

III. Resourcing  
The Audit & Counter Fraud Plan will be delivered using the in-house resources within the Shared 
Service, a total of 13.6FTE comprising 1FTE Head of Audit & Counter Fraud, 3FTE Audit & Counter 
Fraud Team Leaders, 7.6FTE Audit & Counter Fraud Officers, 1FTE Audit & Counter Fraud Intelligence 
Analyst and 1FTE Audit & Counter Fraud Assistant.  All productive days of these staff are allocated on 
the plan; resources spent on strategic leadership and management provided by the Head of Audit & 
Counter Fraud and the Audit & Counter Fraud Team Leaders are not allocated on the plan.  

The results of the risk assessment dictates the amount of assurance work required to deliver an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the overall control environment of the council. This assessment is 
based on: 

 The professional experience of the Head of Audit & Counter Fraud, 

 The risk maturity of the council and the effectiveness of its risk management arrangements, 
and, 

 The proportion of items identified through the risk assessment considered to be of high risk. 

The total productive resource available for 2018-19 for Gravesham is 666 days; of this 389 days will 
be spent on assurance work which is considered sufficient to provide assurance over enough of the 
council’s activities identified through the risk assessment, for the Head of Audit & Counter Fraud to 
deliver an opinion on the effectiveness of the overall control environment of the council.  

The skills and experience of the in-house team have been considered in preparing this plan and all 
work planned is considered to be within the capability of the in-house team.   The Audit & Counter 
Fraud Officer assigned to each activity on the plan is selected by the Audit & Counter Fraud 
management team based on their skills, knowledge, experience, discipline and any declared conflicts 
of interest to ensure all work is conducted effectively.  If an activity planned was found to require 
specialist skills/experience beyond that of the team, arrangements would be put into place to secure 
the services of an external contractor.  

The Audit & Counter Fraud Plan contributes to the council’s overall assurance framework and as 
such, where possible information will be shared and activities coordinated with other internal and 
external providers of assurance to the council.  

IV. 2018-19 Audit & Counter Fraud Plan 
The Plan is intended to provide a clear picture of how the council will use the Audit & Counter Fraud 
Shared Service, reflecting all work to be carried out by the team for Gravesham during the financial 
year.  The plan includes work focusing on the council’s core finance and governance arrangements, 
operational assurance work, proactive counter fraud work, responsive investigations and consultancy 
services as defined in the Audit & Counter Fraud Charter. The work planned is presented against the 
framework of the council’s corporate risk register to reflect how the service will provide assurance 
over the highest areas of risk to the council, and each individual item is categorised as priority 1, 2 or 
3 to assist in the prioritisation of work.   

Page 59



Page 4 of 10 

V. Monitoring & review 
Arrangements to monitor progress against the Plan are built into the working processes of the team 
and will be reported to senior management and the Finance & Audit Committee through the agreed 
Performance Indicator suite within the Quality Assurance & Improvement Programme.  

The service will remain responsive to the needs of the council and will keep the planned work and 
priorities under review so that new emerging risks arising during the year can be included in the plan 
in the place of lower priority work.  To do this, the Plan will be reviewed and presented to 
Management Team and the Finance & Audit Committee alongside the quarterly update reports to 
ensure any amendments to the plan are properly approved.   

Page 60



Appendix A 

Page 5 of 10 

 

Core governance and financial systems assurance work 

Ref Activity Scope of work 
Resources 

(days) 
Timescale Priority 

1 Finalisation of 2017-18 planned work Allowance to finalise work from the 2017-18 plan not 
completed at 31 March 2018. 

25 Q1 1 

2 Performance Management Allowance to verify corporate performance information 
reported by the Corporate Performance Team, and to 
verify Audit & Counter Fraud Team performance 
information.  

5 Q1 1 

3 Corporate & Business Planning Review of arrangements to prepare and review the council 
plan and individual service plans. 

10 Q4 1 

4 Performance Management Framework Review of the council's arrangements to monitor & report 
on corporate performance. 

10 Q2 2 

5 Ethics Review of arrangements to ensure high ethical standards 
across the council. 

15 Q1 2 

6 General ledger  Review of arrangements to ensure accurate information is 
recorded on the General Ledger. 

10 Q3 1 

7 Bad Debt Provision Review of arrangements to plan and account for 
unrecoverable debts 

15 Q3 1 

8 NNDR Recovery Review of arrangements to recover unpaid NNDR liabilities. 15 Q2 1 

9 VAT Review of arrangements to identify calculate and reclaim 
appropriate VAT. 

10 Q2 1 

10 Financial statements preparation Review of arrangements to produce the council's financial 
statements in line with best practice and the required 
deadlines. 

15 Q2 3 

11 Grant payments Review of arrangements to award and pay grants to 
voluntary organisations. 

10 Q3 2 

12 Responsive assurance work Allowance to conduct responsive assurance work unknown 
at the time of planning. 

8 Q1-Q4 3 

      

  

Total 148 
 

 
      

 

P
age 61



Page 6 of 10 

Corporate risks assurance work 
 

Ref Activity Scope of work 
Resources 

(days) 
Timescale Priority 

 IT Strategy & implementation Review of arrangements to monitor acquisition, 
registration and disposal of IT assets as part of IT 
equipment review. 

10 Q2 1 

 Use of Bailiffs Review of arrangements for the instruction of Bailiffs for 
collection from Debtors. 

10 Q4 3 

 Procurement compliance Review of the arrangements to manage compliance with 
the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 & council Contract 
Procedure Rules. 

10 Q1 2 

 Refunds Review of arrangements to ensure refunds are processed 
in accordance with corporate policy and legislative 
requirements. 

10 Q3 1 

 Write Offs Review of arrangements in place to ensure that suitable 
checks are conducted before a debt is written off. 

15 Q3 2 

 Counter Fraud Review of the counter fraud arrangements for Tonbridge & 
Malling BC (Reciprocal arrangement. Assurance for A&CF 
shared service will be provided by Tonbridge & 
Malling/KCC. Day allocation split between Gravesham and 
Medway plans). 

5 Q2 2 

 General Data Protection Regulation Review of arrangements to ensure compliance with GDPR 
post implementation. 

15 Q4 2 

 Homelessness Review of arrangements to meet the requirements of the 
Homelessness Reduction Act. 

15 Q4 2 

 Establishment Management Review of arrangements to manage and account for the 
council's establishment. 

15 Q2 1 

 Staff Performance Management 
Framework 

Review of arrangements to ensure staff performance is 
effectively monitored and managed. 

10 Q4 3 

 Manual Handling Review arrangements to ensure that staff involved in 
manual handling receive adequate training & guidance, 
including temporary workers. 

10 Q3 3 

 Tenancy Enforcement Review of arrangements to ensure recovery action is taken 
in accordance with timescales where appropriate. 

15 Q3 1 

 Rent Deposit Scheme Review of arrangements for the administration of the 10 Q1 2 

P
age 62



Page 7 of 10 

Gravesham Family Lettings Scheme 

 Repairs & Maintenance Supplies 
Management 

Review of arrangements to order, receive, allocate and 
audit repairs & maintenance supplies.  

15 Q4 2 

      

  Total 165   
      

Counter fraud work 
 

Ref Activity Scope of work 
Resources 

(days) 
Timescale Priority 

 Counter fraud assurance work:     

 Housing Allocations Fraud focused review of the arrangements to manage the 
application process for social housing. 

15 Q2 1 

 Residents Parking Permits Fraud focused review of the arrangements to manage the 
application process for Residents Parking Permits 

15 Q1 2 

 Counter fraud activity:     

 Responsive investigations work Allowance to carry out investigations into referrals of 
suspected fraud or malpractice. 

128 Q1-4 1 

 Pro-active investigations work Allowance to carry out pro-active exercises to identify 
fraud and error. 

29 Q1-4 1 

 Data matching exercises, including 
National Fraud Initiative and Kent 
Intelligence Network 

Allowance to carry out and evaluate data matching 
exercised to identify fraud and error. 

29 Q1-4 2 

 Fraud awareness Allowance to carry out activities to increase awareness 
among staff to the risk of fraud. 

10 Q1-4 3 

 Liaison with the Department for Work 
& Pensions Fraud & Error Service 
(DWP FES) 

Allowance to provide the Single Point of Contact (SPOC) 
role for the DWP FES for their investigation of Housing 
Benefits administered by the council. 

47 Q1-4 1 

 Responding to information requests 
from investigative bodies 

Allowance to respond to information requests from the 
Police, local authorities and other investigatory bodies 
under exemptions in the Data Protection Act/General Data 
Protection Regulations.  

31 Q1-4 1 

      

  Total 304   
      

 

  

P
age 63



Page 8 of 10 

Follow up work 
 

Ref Activity Scope of work 
Resources 

(days) 
Timescale Priority 

 Follow up of agreed recommendations 8 Q1-4 1 
      

  Total 8   
      

Consultancy work 
 

Ref Activity Scope of work 
Resources 

(days) 
Timescale Priority 

 Repairs & maintenance supplies 
management 

Allowance to support the implementation of new 
arrangements to order, receive, allocate and audit repairs 
& maintenance supplies 

5 Q1 3 

 Verification of European Grant 
Funding Claims 

Allowance for verification of Interreg grant funding claims. 20 Q1-4 1 

 Consultancy services Allowance for consultancy services as directed by senior 
management including the provision of advice & 
information 

10 Q1-4 3 

      

  Total 35   
      

Summary 
 

Ref Activity Scope of work 
Resources 

(days) 
Timescale 

 Core governance & financial systems assurance work 148 Q1-Q4 

 Corporate risks assurance work 165 Q1-Q4 

 Counter fraud work 304 Q1-Q4 

 Follow up work 8 Q1-Q4 

 Consultancy work 35 Q1-Q4 
     

  Total 660  
     

P
age 64



Appendix A 

Page 9 of 10 

 

Cyclical programme of core financial and governance activities  
 

Activity 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 

         

Governance arrangements 
         

Governance framework  1  1  1  1 

IT Governance   1   1   

Constitution & policy maintenance  1   1   1 

Corporate & business planning 1    1    

Risk management framework, 
compliance & reporting 

 1  1  1  1 

Performance management 
framework, compliance & reporting 

1  1 1  1 1  

Data quality   1   1   1 

Partnership working  1   1    

Shared services   1   1   

Project & change management  1   1   1 

Ethics 1  1  1  1  
         

Financial systems 
         

General ledger & bank reconciliation 1   1   1  

Treasury management  1   1   1 

Debtors, write offs & bad debt 
provision 

1  1  1  1  

P
age 65



Page 10 of 10 

Activity 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 

Creditors, purchase cards & petty 
cash 

 1  1  1  1 

Income collection   1  1  1  1 

Housing Benefit & Council Tax 
reduction 

 1  1  1  1 

Council Tax administration, collection 
& recovery 

 1  1  1  1 

NNDR administration, collection & 
recovery 

1  1  1  1  

Payroll establishment, payments & 
deductions 

 1  1  1  1 

Housing rent administration, 
collection & recovery 

 1  1  1  1 

VAT 1   1   1  

Asset management  1   1   1 

Insurances  1   1   1 

Financial statements preparation 1    1    

Budget monitoring  1   1   1 

Financial planning       1  

Capital accounting   1   1   

Grant payments 1    1    

 

P
age 66



1

Classification: Part A
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Finance & Audit Committee

Date: 13 March 2018

Reporting officer: Emily McKeown, Grant Thornton

Subject: 2016-17 External Audit Grant Certification Letter

Purpose and summary of report: 
To provide Members with a summary of the external audit findings and issues arising from 
Grant Claim certification work completed by Grant Thornton relating to 2016-17.

Recommendation:
The Finance and Audit Committee is invited to note the findings and conclusions of the 
grant certification work undertaken relating to 2016-17.

1. Background to the report

1.1 Grant Thornton, as the council’s auditor, are required to certify certain claims and 
returns submitted by the Council.  The letter attached at appendix two 
summarises the overall findings of grant certification work completed for 2016-17.   
Grant Thornton was required to certify the Housing Benefit Subsidy claim for the 
year relating to expenditure of £34.5 million. 

2. Contacts

2.1 Grant Thornton are the author of the report.    

3. BACKGROUND PAPERS

3.1 There are no background papers to this report. 

Page 67 Agenda Item 9



2

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal N/A

Finance and 
Value for 
Money 

Contained within the report.

Risk 
Assessment

N/A

Screening for Equality ImpactsEquality 
Impact 
Assessment Question

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate 
Plan

Corporate Plan Objective 4 – Sound and Self-Sufficient Council.

Crime and 
Disorder

N/A

Digital and 
website 
implications

N/A

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable 
adults

N/A

Page 68



David Hughes
Gravesham Borough Council Civic Centre, 
Windmill Street, 
Gravesend, 
Kent, 
DA12 1AU

28 February 2018

Dear David

Certification work for Gravesham Borough Council for year ended 31 March 2017

We are required to certify the Housing Benefit subsidy claim submitted by Gravesham Borough 
Council ('the Council'). This certification typically takes place six to nine months after the claim 
period and represents a final but important part of the process to confirm the Council's 
entitlement to funding.

The Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 gave the Secretary of State power to transfer Audit 
Commission responsibilities to other bodies. Public Sector Audit Appointments (PSAA) took on 
the transitional responsibilities for HB COUNT issued by the Audit Commission in February 
2015.

We have certified the Housing Benefit subsidy claim for the financial year 2016/17 relating to 
subsidy claimed of £34.5million. Further details are set out in Appendix A.

We identified a number of issues from our certification work in 2016/17 which we highlight for 
your attention. Three areas where additional testing of 40 cases was required were identified based 
upon review of errors noted from additional testing performed in relation to the 2015/16 
Housing Benefit subsidy claim. 

The Housing Benefit subsidy audit was well managed by the Council and despite the volume of 
cases that required testing, the audit ran smoothly and efficiently and we noted that this work was 
completed by the Council in a timely manner and to a good standard of quality. 

As a result of the errors identified, some cells on the claim were amended and the claim qualified. 
We reported our findings to the DWP. The DWP may require the Council to undertake further 
work or provide assurances on the errors we have identified.

The indicative fee for 2016/17 for the Council was based on scale fee set by PSAA. The indicative 
scale fee set by PSAA for the Council for 2016/17 was £14,526. This is set out in more detail in 
Appendix B.

Yours sincerely

Grant Thornton UK LLP

G
rant Thornton UK LLP
Insert office address

T +44 (0)xxxxxxxxxx

www.grant-thornton.co.uk

Grant Thornton UK LLP 
30 Finsbury Square London
EC2A 1AG

T +44 (0)20 7383 5100

www.grant-thornton.co.ukornton UK LLP

Page 69



2

Appendix A - Details of claims and returns certified for 2016/17

Findings from certification of housing benefits subsidy claim

Through our certification work we identified a small number of errors and other issues, which are 
summarised below. 

Rent Rebate claimant earned income
In the previous year we identified errors in relation to the calculation of claimants’ earned income 
within the Housing Benefit calculation. Given the nature of the population the Council were 
required to test 40 cases where the claimants’ earned income is included within the Housing 
Benefit calculation for 2016/17. Testing identified 8 cases where the Council had not used the 
appropriate earnings within the benefit calculation. The errors were classified as:

 7 cases where the claimant was overpaid (total overpayment £243)
 1 case where there was no impact on the Housing benefit award.

Rent Rebate claimant state retirement pension
In the previous year we identified errors in relation to the calculation of claimants’ state 
retirement pension within the Housing Benefit calculation. Given the nature of the population the 
Council were required to test 40 cases where claimants’ state retirement pension is included within 
the Housing Benefit calculation for 2016/17. Testing identified 6 cases where the Council had not 
used the appropriate state retirement pension within the benefit calculation. The errors were 
classified as:

 4 cases where the claimant was overpaid (total overpayment £134)
 2 cases where there was no impact on the Housing benefit award.

Non-HRA incorrect input of rent
Testing of the initial sample identified 2 cases (total value of £5,098) where benefit had been 
overpaid by £1 as a result of the Council inputting the claimant’s rent increase incorrectly 
(inputting the increase one week early). This error was isolated to 8 plots on a caravan site and 
calculated as £8 – the difference between the old and new rent for the period for which it was 
prematurely increased. Given the nature of the population and the error found in the initial 
sample, no additional sample of 40 cell 011 cases was selected for testing. It was possible to 
isolate the error to one collection of homes.

The Council has not amended the 2016/17 claim to adjust for this overpayment.

Claim or 
return

Value Amended? Amendment 
value

Qualified? Comments

Housing 
benefits 
subsidy claim

£34,475,350 Yes -£4,199 Yes See below

Page 70



3

Rent Allowance claimant earned income
In the previous year we identified errors in relation to the calculation of claimants’ earned income 
within the Housing Benefit calculation. Given the nature of the population the Council were 
required to test 40 cases where the claimants’ earned income is included within the Housing 
Benefit calculation for 2016/17. Testing identified 8 cases where the Council had not used the 
appropriate earnings within the benefit calculation. The errors were classified as:

 2 cases where the claimant was overpaid (total overpayment £465)
 4 cases where the claimant was underpaid (total underpayment £986)
 2 case where there was no impact on the Housing benefit award.

Recommended actions for officers
We recommend that the Council as part of its internal quality assurance process, should increase 
its focus or level of testing in respect of the areas where we identified errors from our testing.

Appendix B: Fees for 2016/17 certification work

Claim or return 2015/16 
fee (£) 

2016/17 
indicative 
fee (£)

2016/17 
actual fee 
(£)

Variance 
(£)

Explanation 
for variances

Housing benefits 
subsidy claim 
(BEN01)

£9,860 £14,526 £14,526 £0 Not 
Applicable

 

Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5 Review of Accounting Policies 2017-18
	2. Accounting Policies 2017-18 Revised

	6 Review of the Statement of Accounts Glossary of Terms
	Glossary Report Appendix 2

	7 Audit & Counter Fraud Charter
	4. A&CF Charter 2018-19

	8 Audit & Counter Fraud 2018-19 Work Plan
	2. GBC A&CF Plan 2018-19

	9 2016/17 External Audit Grant Certification Letter
	2. Gravesham Borough Council - Certification letter 2017 to SP


